RECOMMENDED CITATION

Nepal, S., Steiner, J. F., Allen, S., Azam, M. F., Bhuchar, S., Biemans, H., Dhakal, M., Khanal, S., Li, D., Lutz, A., Pradhananga, S., Ritzema, R., Stoffel, M., & Stuart-Smith, R. (2023). Consequences of cryospheric change for water resources and hazards in the Hindu Kush Himalaya. In ICIMOD (P. Wester, S. Chaudhary, N. Chettri, M. Jackson, A. Maharjan, S. Nepal, J. F. Steiner [Eds.]), *Water, ice, society, and ecosystems in the Hindu Kush Himalaya: An outlook* (pp. 73–121). ICIMOD. https://doi. org/10.53055/ICIMOD.1031

Consequences of cryospheric change for water resources and hazards in the Hindu Kush Himalaya

CHAPTER LEAD AUTHORS

Santosh Nepal

International Water Management Institute (IWMI), Kathmandu, Nepal International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD), Lalitpur, Nepal

Jakob F. Steiner

Institute of Geography and Regional Science, University of Graz, Austria International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD), Lalitpur, Nepal

AUTHORS

Simon Allen

Climatic Change and Climate Impacts, Institute for Environmental Sciences, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland Department of Geography, University of Zurich, Zürich, Switzerland

Mohd. Farooq Azam

Discipline of Civil Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology Indore, Simrol, India

Sanjeev Bhuchar

International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD), Lalitpur, Nepal

Hester Biemans

Wageningen University and Research, Wageningen, The Netherlands

Madhav Dhakal

International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD), Lalitpur, Nepal

Sonu Khanal

FutureWater, Wageningen, The Netherlands Vrije Universiteit, Institute for Environmental Research, Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Dongfeng Li

College of Environmental Sciences and Engineering, Peking University, Beijing China Department of Geography, National University of Singapore, Kent Ridge, Singapore

Arthur Lutz

Faculty of Geosciences, Utrecht University, Netherlands

Saurav Pradhananga

International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD), Lalitpur, Nepal

Randall Ritzema

Daugherty Water for Food Global Institute at the University of Nebraska, United States of America

Markus Stoffel

Climatic Change and Climate Impacts, Institute for Environmental Sciences, University of Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland

Rupert Stuart-Smith

Oxford Sustainable Law Programme, Smith School of Enterprise and the Environment, University of Oxford, United Kingdom

Chapter overview

KEY FINDINGS

With accelerated glacier melt, 'peak water' will be reached around mid-century in most HKH river basins, and overall water availability is expected to decrease by the end of the century (medium confidence). At higher elevations, an increase is expected (more melt or more rainfall). However, the variability from basin to basin is large, and due to the large uncertainty in future precipitation projections, our confidence in estimates of future discharge remains *low*. More confident projections of precipitation, snow water equivalent, as well as both evaporative and subsurface fluxes will be crucial to improving our ability to accurately determine future water availability in the HKH.

With a changing climate and heightened awareness of the increased exposure of livelihoods and infrastructure to hazards, the mountain hazard landscape has become increasingly multi-dimensional (*high confidence*). A number of different slow- (e.g. sedimentation and erosion) and fast-onset hazards (e.g. floods and glacial lake outburst floods [GLOFs]) are occurring in the same watersheds, frequently at the same time, and often also in a cascading manner, complicating our ability to implement early warning and adaptation measures. Future frequency and intensity estimates exist only for a limited number of hazards, with *medium confidence* in a *likely* increasing trend. Confidence in trends varies across hazards but is especially evident for slow-onset hazards related to glacier retreat as well as events associated with increasing heavy precipitation.

Water sources in the high mountains are important not only for livelihoods and other demands in the immediate vicinity but also for the distant downstream areas that are heavily reliant on meltwater originating from mountains for agricultural, domestic, and industrial uses (high confidence). Glacier and snowmelt provide a buffer for downstream irrigation demand in the spring season (high confidence), and it is very likely that the dependency on them will increase in future (medium confidence).

POLICY MESSAGES

It is important to know the relevant contributions of different water sources to river flows and prepare for seasonal shifts in water availability. The relative importance of different components of the cryosphere and other sources of water differs between the basins in the HKH. Decision makers should identify the dominant water sources and processes in their region to prioritise relevant investigations and adaptation measures. This will become even more relevant for anticipating whether river flows are expected to increase or decrease in the near future and how seasonal shifts will evolve. This has crucial consequences for the downstream use of water resources as well as the occurrence of water-related hazards.

Much more effort is needed to prepare adaptation strategies for multi-hazards and cascading event chains. Adaptation strategies to respond to risks from mountain hazards need to take into account the increased likelihood of multi-hazards and cascading events due to climate change. This requires monitoring solutions able to capture different types of processes. To evaluate the impact of complex hazard chains, simulations should consider running a multitude of (concurrent) scenarios involving all types of possible hazards. With a complex interplay of risks, it is imperative that all possible impacts are evaluated to avoid maladaptation, which can result from adapting to some, but not all, hazards, increasing overall vulnerability to climate change.

It is crucial to prepare for an increased dependence on meltwater. With increased likelihood of extreme hydrological events (floods, droughts), being able to forecast water availability several months ahead should be a priority. Model estimates of water supply can be made more robust with better knowledge of downstream demand on upstream supply from meltwaters and advance projections of available water and its routing through rivers and subsurface storage.

CHAPTER SUMMARY

In the HKH, snowmelt and glacier melt contribute substantially to river and groundwater flows, although the magnitude of their contribution varies with scale and per river basin. The cryosphere regulates river run-off by generally releasing water from April to October - primarily as snowmelt during April-June, and glacier melt during June-October, which also replenishes aquifers. The relative contribution of melt from the cryosphere to river run-off increases from east to west, from as high as 79% in the Amu Darya to merely 5% in the Irrawaddy in the eastern Himalaya (high confidence). The contribution of melt run-off is relatively high in the western HKH due to the westerlies, because of which winter snowfall plays an important role. In contrast, the summer monsoon plays an important role in the eastern HKH, which is reflected in the 50%–79% rainfall run-off contribution to river basins - including the Ganges, Brahmaputra, Irrawaddy, and Yellow - in that region. Snowmelt accounts for the large majority of cryospheric contributions to streamflow in all basins (high confidence), with an expected further decrease in the coming century (medium confidence). The magnitude and timing of snowmelt have already changed

considerably, with trends in snow water equivalent predominately negative across the whole region between 1979 and 2019.

Climate change is projected to cause significant changes in the cryosphere and subsequently impact the hydrological cycle and overall water availability in the HKH. The actual changes will vary significantly - from sub-catchment to river basin scales and from daily to seasonal and decadal time scales in the climatically and hydrologically diverse HKH region. Snowmelt and glacier melt dominate run-off generated at higher elevations, whereas rainfall run-off and base flow processes dominate run-off generation at lower elevations. Some river basins are currently experiencing a decrease in run-off; others are seeing an increase in run-off, as contributions from snow and glacier melt increase in coming years (medium confidence). With accelerated glacier melt, 'peak water' will be reached around midcentury in most basins of the HKH, and water availability is expected to decrease overall by the end of the century (medium confidence).

Future river run-off is *likely* to see larger changes at higher than at lower elevations, but projections show large differences between river basins as well as across different climate projections. At higher elevations, total water availability will increase, either due to an increase in the melt contribution until 'peak water' is reached or due to an increase in rainfall in the future. However, this increased water availability levels off and decreases when lower elevations dominated by rainfall run-off are considered. Even though the total water availability at higher elevations will increase, changes in the timing and magnitude of peak water availability and seasonality impose a serious threat to the livelihoods of people living in these regions.

In river basins in the western part of the HKH (the Amu Darya, Helmand, and Indus) with a melt-dominated hydrological regime, the onset of melting may shift one to two months earlier in the year. In particular, flows may decline in the second half (July–September) of the present peak melt season. For river basins dominated by southern and south-eastern rainfall (the Ganges, Brahmaputra, Irrawaddy, Mekong, and Salween), no strong seasonal shifts are projected. With flows being heavily influenced by the monsoon, changes in flows will mainly be driven by changes in the magnitude and timing of monsoon precipitation. For rivers with a larger role for meltwater, a stronger seasonal shift to earlier months is expected.

In the mid-hills of the HKH, springs are the main source of water for domestic and productive uses (high confidence). At higher elevations, springs are recharged by snowmelt and glacier melt and their flows will be negatively affected by decreasing melt (medium confidence). The direct response of springs to precipitation, in particular to rainfall, is well established (high confidence), while meltwater may contribute significantly to groundwater recharge in high mountain areas - e.g. meltwater contributes up to 83% of annual groundwater recharge in the Upper Indus River Basin. The contribution of melt to springs will likely start decreasing by midcentury (low confidence) but evidence even at the level of process understanding is weak and there is a lack of understanding of the interrelationships between the cryosphere and springs.

Multiple water- and cryosphere-related disasters have been recorded in recent years. There is *low confidence* in an increasing trend of the underlying hazards, suggesting the increasing trend in the frequency of disasters in the HKH is primarily due to increased exposure. However, it is *very likely* that many events have been made more likely to occur or, in some cases, possible due to climate change resulting in more meltwater, larger and more potentially dangerous lakes, unstable slopes from thawing permafrost, and increasing sediment loads in rivers.

There is a considerable overlap between different types of high mountain hazards, in both their genesis and occurrence as cascading hazards with compound drivers, whereby a sequence of secondary events results in an impact that is significantly larger than the initial impact. The effect of road construction on the increasing number of landslides following slope instabilities after the 2015 earthquake in Nepal is clearly non-climatic. Similarly, as hydropower and road infrastructure are increasingly being constructed in the upstream areas of watersheds, the risk of exposure to mass flow events is increasing. Confirmed climatic drivers include increasing rainfall intensities and higher temperatures, resulting in higher amounts of glacier and snowmelt that drive short-term lake expansion and soil saturation. Thawing permafrost or frost cracking due to changing permafrost in headwalls has been found to be on the increase and it is possible that it has contributed to recent cascading events.

The retreat of mountain glaciers has increased the size and number of glacial lakes, but there is limited evidence of an increase in the numbers of GLOFs in recent decades in the HKH *(high confidence)*. However, a threefold increase in GLOF risk across the HKH is projected by the end of the twenty-first century. There is notable regional variation, from east to west across the HKH, in projected glacial lake development, with glacial lakes in the eastern Himalaya already projected to be close to their maximum extent, and near a situation of 'peak GLOF risk' by 2050 under all climate scenarios. Meanwhile, lakes in the western Himalaya and Karakoram will continue to increase significantly into the late twenty-first century and beyond.

There is growing evidence for increases in sediment yields in high mountain areas driven by climate change and cryospheric degradation. On average, the suspended sediment load from HKH headwaters has increased by ~80% over the past six decades in response to accelerating glacier melt and permafrost thaw and increased precipitation. Fluvial sediment loads will *very likely* increase in the coming decades in a warmer and wetter HKH, with each 10% increase in precipitation projected to result in a 24% ± 5% (mean ± standard error) increase in sediment load, and each 1°C increase in air temperature resulting in a 32% \pm 10% increase in sediment load.

Large avalanches of rock and/or ice are expected (high confidence) to increase in frequency and magnitude under a warmer climate, with implications for associated, far-reaching cascading processes. This is underpinned by detailed examinations of several recent cascading events in the HKH, which show an initial mass movement originating from a zone likely to have been destabilised by recent deglaciation and/or degrading permafrost, and often, unusually warm or wet conditions preceding the disaster. In view of future climate change, such triggering factors are expected to become increasingly prevalent and relevant over the coming decades.

Water resources from the high mountains, from melt or precipitation, are crucial for mountain agriculture, water supply, and the recharge of aquifers and springs (*high confidence*). Large-scale model studies have also shown that they play a large role in providing water to distant downstream regions, especially for irrigation *(medium confidence)*. An estimated 129 million farmers in the Indus, Ganges, and Brahmaputra basins currently depend on water that originates from glacier melt and snowmelt to irrigate their crops. Especially during the warm and dry months before the monsoon rains start, the availability of meltwater flow is crucial to irrigate their crops. Meltwater from glaciers and snow plays an especially important role as a buffer during drought periods.

The dependence of irrigated agriculture on both meltwater and groundwater is projected to increase. Due to earlier melting, the amount of meltwater available for irrigation at the end of the spring season (May) will increase. However, later in the season, meltwater availability will decrease. Combined with a higher variability in rainfall run-off, it is likely that groundwater will be used to compensate for the lower surface water availability, potentially leading to further overdraft and depletion of aquifers.

KEY KNOWLEDGE GAPS

Despite the progress made over the past decades in the study of the water resources of the HKH, significant knowledge gaps remain. These gaps can be categorised as process and monitoring gaps that require distinct strategies to address them as well as gaps attributable to a lack of comprehensive documentation and inclusion of local and Indigenous knowledge. The process and monitoring gaps pertain specifically to understanding and quantifying the key cryospheric components of glaciers, snow, and permafrost and their contribution to high mountain hydrology in the HKH, both under historic climatic conditions and, crucially, under projected climatic change. Knowledge gaps must also be closed 'below' the high mountain areas by considering how cryospheric change will exacerbate cascading hazard risks and affect water demands and water use systems in downstream areas.

1. Parts of the water balance – notably, evaporative fluxes and subsurface processes – remain poorly measured, understood, or included in modelling efforts. More monitoring efforts need to be directed to these underexplored aspects to be able to investigate these processes. Research proposals addressing such understudied processes should receive heightened attention for funding, ideally in catchments that already have existing measurement networks. This also requires transboundary institutional and political mechanisms to provide sustainable, stable, and long-term support. More of such sentinel catchments should be strategically established in the HKH region, with a view to cover as much topographic and climatic variability as possible.

2. While hazards are well documented, it is, so far, not clear which processes of the hydrosphere or cryosphere are dominant in their genesis. Increased attention should be given to monitor aspects of the cryosphere that are likely relevant for future hazards – especially the development of permafrost and slope instability, snow cover and snowpack development and its links to avalanche formation, and precipitation and melt dynamics influencing the stability of periglacial terrain.

3. The availability and relevance of Indigenous and local knowledge in the HKH has already been documented in many cases. Efforts to integrate this knowledge into adaptation strategies have, however, been limited. More funds and human resources should be made available to document these knowledge systems and interact with stakeholders to discuss how they can be combined with modern technologies for sustainable development in mountain regions.

Contents

3.1	Intr	oduction	79			
3.2	Changes in water resources					
	3.2.1	Role of the cryosphere in mountain river hydrology	80			
	3.2.2	Role of the cryosphere in springs hydrology	83			
	3.2.3	Evapotranspiration and sublimation	84			
	3.2.4	Future changes in melt run-off	86			
	3.2.5	Projected changes in water availability and extremes	88			
3.3	Wat	er-related hazards in the HKH	90			
	3.3.1	Observed hazards in recent years	90			
	3.3.2	From compound events to cascading hazards	93			
	3.3.3	Attribution of high-mountain cryosphere change and cryosphere- related hazards	95			
	3.3.4	Observed and projected changes in erosion and sediment loads driven by cryospheric degradation and a changing hydrology	96			
	3.3.5	What to expect: Projected changes for mountain hazards	98			
3.4	Cum	nulative impacts on water use systems	100			
	3.4.1	Impacts of cryospheric change on agricultural and livestock services	101			
	3.4.2	Cascading impacts and upstream-downstream linkages	104			
3.5	Key knowledge gaps and potential pathways forward					
	3.5.1	Knowledge gaps	105			
	3.5.2	Responses and suggested strategies	107			
3.6	Refe	erences	110			

3.1. Introduction

The Hindu Kush Himalaya (HKH) region is part of what is often referred to as the Third Pole due to its vast expanse of ice and snow, and is known as one of the important water towers of the world (Immerzeel et al., 2020; Viviroli et al., 2007). To understand the region, it is crucial to have an overview of its water resources, associated hazards, and the resulting upstream–downstream linkages. This chapter investigates the physical manifestations of these crucial aspects of the water cycle. While it will point out where linkages to downstream impacts and demands exist, it does not go in further depth into ecological impacts (covered in Chapter 4), or societal and economic aspects (covered in Chapter 5).

Ranging from tropical climates in the south-east, with among the highest annual rainfall rates on the planet, to perennially frozen high-altitude areas, the region is subject to complex (Bookhagen & Burbank, 2006; Palazzi et al., 2013) and often still relatively understudied atmospheric dynamics (Viste & Sorteberg, 2015). The complexity of the terrain makes it challenging to resolve any climate variable in space. Additionally, the change in time is crucial as high elevations such as the HKH have experienced a faster rise in temperatures than other areas of the globe (Pepin et al., 2015). The regional climate is naturally the crucial input to understand the region's water resources and the cryosphere. The HKH is the source of some of the largest rivers on the planet, but water resources also manifest themselves elsewhere. Lakes and soils also hold water and some of it returns to the atmosphere as evaporation before it can turn into discharge.

Together with the cryosphere (covered in Chapter 2), water resources can also drive various forms of hazards. With the exceptional elevational gradients across the HKH, these hazards can result in disasters of great magnitude. There has been considerable scientific debate on whether these hazards have changed in frequency and intensity in the past and if they will do so in the future. With changing vulnerabilities and increasing levels of exposure, it becomes even more difficult to project how this will alter the consequent risks for society.

In this chapter, we investigate our state of knowledge about the quality and quantity of climatic drivers, water resources, and their implications for present and future hydrological regimes, as well as waterrelated hazards and note the most significant impacts recorded. However, we do not further investigate interactions with the demand side or cascading risks that propagate beyond the domain of the physical sciences. The chapter concludes with a discussion of key gaps in knowledge, and suggests some relevant strategies to address the same.

3.2. Changes in water resources

Climate-related changes are impacting hydrological regimes across the HKH. The IPCC's recent, *Sixth assessment report* (AR6) also suggested that the Asian region is likely to face a scenario of too much and too little water under climate change, which will affect the socio-economic development of the region. In this section, we discuss the effects of a changing cryosphere on water resources, and water-related hazards in the HKH under a changing climate. We also look at the role of the cryosphere in mountain hydrology and how meltwater and water availability will change in the future.

3.2.1. Role of the cryosphere in mountain river hydrology

Cryospheric melt plays an important role in mountain hydrology (Azam et al., 2018; Biemans et al., 2019; Bolch et al., 2019). In the HKH, snowmelt and glacier melt contribute substantially to river flows although the magnitude of their contribution varies with scale (Khanal et al., 2021). Dynamic water storage in components of the cryosphere (comprising glaciers, snow, permafrost and seasonally frozen ground, and river and lake ice), either in a solid or liquid state, regulates run-off by releasing water generally from April to October - primarily snowmelt during April-June, and glacier melt during June-October (Azam et al., 2021). Lutz et al. (2014) suggested that the contribution of glacier melt and snowmelt is higher in the western Himalaya (for example, ~62% in the Upper Indus) and lower in the eastern Himalaya (for example, ~19% in the Upper Ganges), whereas the melt run-off contribution to the Upper Brahmaputra (25%), Upper Salween (36%), and Upper Mekong (33%) lies in between. Among these five river basins, the highest glacier run-off contribution is in the Upper Indus (41%) and the highest snowmelt run-off contribution is in the Upper Mekong (32%).

Khanal et al. (2021) estimated the melt run-off contribution of 15 river basins of High Mountain Asia (HMA). HMA is defined as the region within 57°–113°E and 22°–47°N, encompassing the Tibetan Plateau and the adjacent mountain ranges – Tien Shan, Pamir, Hindu Kush, and Karakoram in the west, the Himalaya in the south and south-east, and Qilian Shan in the east. The glacier melt, snowmelt, rainfall run-off, and base flow contributions for the 12 major river basins within the HKH region are presented in Table 3.1. The locations of the basins are shown in Figure 3.1 (page 82).

Table 3.1 shows that the contribution of melt run-off can vary widely, from as high as 79% in the Amu Darya, with sources in the far west of the HKH, to merely 5% in the Irrawaddy in the eastern Himalaya. The contribution of melt run-off is relatively high in the western HKH region due to westerlies, because of which winter snowfall plays an important role (Khanal et al., 2021; Lutz et al., 2014). In contrast, the Indian summer monsoon plays an important role in the eastern Himalaya, which is reflected in the 50%–79% rainfall run-off contribution to river basins in that region, such as the Ganges, Brahmaputra, Irrawaddy, and Yellow river basins.

It is also notable that snowmelt contributes a larger fraction of run-off than glacier melt, but its share in different basins varies widely (Table 3.1). This finding is confirmed by a further in-depth study on the role of snowmelt in the region. This study also shows that the magnitude and timing of snowmelt have already changed considerably but trends in snow water equivalent (SWE) have been predominately negative across the whole region between 1979 and 2019 (Kraaijenbrink et al., 2021).

Figure 3.1 shows the contributions of both rainfall run-off and melt run-off to HMA's rivers. It indicates that rainfall run-off is higher in the eastern river basins such as the Ganges, Brahmaputra, Irrawaddy, and Mekong whereas the contribution of melt run-off is higher in the western river basins such as the Amu Darya.

Other studies conducted at micro to macro scales also indicate similar patterns of higher melt run-off in the western HKH region than in the eastern. In the Hunza River Basin, with a catchment area of 13,700 square kilometres (km²), glacier melt run-off ranges from 33% to 47% and snowmelt from 45% to 50% across the years (Shrestha et al., 2015). In the glaciated catchments of the central Himalaya such as the Upper Dudh Koshi Basin (146 km²) in the Everest TABLE 3.1

CONTRIBUTION OF GLACIER MELT, SNOWMELT, AND RAINFALL RUN-OFF TO THE TOTAL DISCHARGE OF 12 MAJOR RIVER BASINS OF THE HKH FROM 1985 TO 2014

Basin	Area ('000 km²)	Glacier area (%)	Precipitation (mm per year)	Run-off (mm per year)	Glacier melt run- off (%)	Snowmelt run-off (%)	Rainfall run-off (%)	Base flow (%)
Amu Darya	268	4.36	676	407	4.4	74.4	5.4	15.8
Helmand	74	0	360	195	0	77.5	5.2	17.4
Indus	473	6.28	832	577	5.1	39.7	43.9	11.4
Tarim	1,081	3.10	335	47	3.2	23.9	47.3	25.6
Ganges	202	4.37	1,763	1,293	3.1	10.3	64.7	22.0
Tibetan Plateau	415	0.83	451	117	2.3	15.3	32.8	49.6
Brahmaputra	400	2.73	2,018	1,575	1.8	13.2	62.1	22.8
Irrawaddy	49	0.15	3,638	3,223	0	5.1	78.2	16.7
Salween	119	1.45	1,091	627	1.4	14.7	55.7	28.3
Mekong	111	0.26	1,066	528	0.3	7.4	55.1	37.2
Yangtze	687	0.39	1,127	849	0.2	5.5	71.0	23.3
Yellow River	273	0.05	751	468	0.1	9.6	63.9	26.5

Note: Under 'Tibetan Plateau', endorheic basins of the plateau are summarised. Source: Khanal et al. (2021)

region, snowmelt contributes 41% and glacier melt 46% of the total streamflow (Mimeau et al., 2019). For the same basin downstream, with a catchment area of 3,712 km², the snowmelt contribution decreases to about 29% (Nepal et al., 2014). Similarly, in the small catchment of Langtang (360 km²), the contribution of snowmelt varies between 20% and 30% while glacier melt varies between 13% and 62% (Immerzeel et al., 2013; Racoviteanu et al., 2013; Ragettli et al., 2015). However, for the larger basins, the contribution drops to 9%-14% (snowmelt) and 7%-11% (glacier melt) for Trishuli, downstream of Langtang (4,603 km²), Marsyangdi (4,062 km²), and Tamor (3,990 km²) (Kayastha et al., 2020). Studies at various scales indicate differences in the contribution of melt runoff mainly because of different methods used (for example, models relying on fully distributed versus semi-distributed resolution of physical processes in space or relying on simple temperature-dependent melt models versus a full energy balance) and the varying degrees to which processes are replicated in the models. These include the definition of glacier melt and snowmelt among studies (for example, processes with as yet little evidence,

such as sublimation or subsurface flows, are often either ignored or resolved in a simplistic manner), input data, interpolation techniques, spatial representation, and time periods (Azam et al., 2021; Tiel et al., 2020).

Meltwater is most important in high-elevation, proximal reaches of the HKH river basins. Meltwater volumes are greatest during the spring, summer, and early autumn, when snowmelt and ice melt typically are at their highest due to the higher temperatures in those seasons. In the monsoondominated basins, where monsoonal rain increases river flows, the share of meltwater declines in summer (Azam et al., 2021).

Modelling for a specific glacier catchment in the western Himalaya already suggests an increase in melt run-off, reflected in a negative mass balance for the second half of the twentieth century (Engelhardt et al., 2017). However, such studies that combine an analysis of the cryosphere and hydrology of a river basin remain limited. For the Karakoram, an analysis of river flow data in the Upper Indus FIGURE 3.1

CONTRIBUTIONS OF SNOWMELT (FIRST), GLACIER MELT (SECOND), AND BASE FLOWS (THIRD) TO TOTAL RIVER DISCHARGE OF HKH RIVER BASINS, 1985–2014





Source: Khanal et al. (2021)

Basin suggests an increase in flows until the 1990s, with a decrease ever since. But this data does not directly mirror the mass loss or gain of glaciers in the region, suggesting other processes to be of relevance (Reggiani et al., 2017). Further north, in the Tien Shan, streamflows only started to increase in the 1990s but the variability in response between different sub-catchments within the Tien Shan remains large, also suggesting the importance of a better understanding of multiple processes (Shen et al., 2018).

3.2.2. Role of the cryosphere in springs hydrology

Glaciers are reducing significantly in area and are retreating – hence their lengths are reducing – at an alarming rate in the HKH (see Chapter 2). Many places are also experiencing erratic snowfall and a reduction in permafrost due to climate change (Bolch et al., 2019). However, the outcomes of these changes for the region's water regime, especially its groundwater, are yet to become clear (Prakash, 2020). Only a limited number of studies have been conducted in identifying groundwater, particularly spring recharge sources in the high mountain areas of the HKH region due to the limited hydrometeorological monitoring programmes. However, a few studies indicate that meltwater contributes significantly to groundwater recharge in the high mountain areas. Meltwater contributes up to 83% of annual groundwater recharge in the Upper Indus River Basin. Of this, the share of glacier melt is 44% and snowmelt 39% (Lone et al., 2021).

Springs are the main source of water for domestic and productive uses in the mid-hills (Scott et al., 2019). At higher elevations, springs have direct connections with glaciers and the decline in glaciers may affect water flows (Merrey et al., 2018). The projected further decline in glacial mass may not affect groundwater systems significantly until the middle of the century. However, after 2050, the changes in climatic conditions will likely affect spring systems, reducing their recharge and flows (Prakash, 2020). Accelerated thawing of permafrost can also impact artesian groundwater – whereby groundwater recharge or discharge (as springs) can occur in localised taliks – as well as spring water chemistry via changed hydrological flow paths and the release of solutes from thawed materials (Gruber et al., 2017). However, there is still a lack of understanding of the interrelationships between the cryosphere and springs, and a regional science-based approach is necessary to fill this knowledge gap.

There are very few studies on springs in the high mountains. Panwar (2020) shows an inverse relation of spring discharge with precipitation and a positive correlation with the melting of snow/ glaciers in the Kashmir Himalaya. With a rise in temperatures during March-July, an increase in spring discharge is witnessed. However, in the months that follow, there is a reduction in discharge which results from surpassed infiltration capacities and an increase in the run-off amount (August-November) and later, minimal melting due to low temperatures (December-February). Spring discharge during March (the wettest month, with ~200 mm of precipitation) is less than in June (only 80 mm of precipitation). During June-July, high temperatures support the melting of snow/ice, resulting in a considerable addition to groundwater recharge. Enhanced recharge associated with high temperatures and glacial melt in the summer months distinguishes the role of upstream snow-fed areas as a recharge zone. A study of karst springs from the Kashmir Valley in India showed that snowmelt dominantly contributes to spring flows (55%-96%), followed by glacier melt (5%-36%) and rain (4%-34%) (Jeelani et al., 2017).

Some studies have been carried out in the middle mountains of the HKH to establish the relationship between precipitation and spring discharge and recharge in small and distributed areas. In the Indian Himalaya, particularly in Sikkim and Uttarakhand, rainfall and spring discharge are well correlated (F. Zhang et al., 2019). A study conducted in western Nepal indicated that rainfall contributes significantly to springs (Matheswaran et al., 2019). Studies on the middle mountains of Sikkim, India indicated that springs are recharged by precipitation (Tambe, Dhakal et al., 2020; Tambe, Rawat et al., 2020), and that spring discharge generally showed an annual periodic rhythm, suggesting a strong direct response to rainfall (Tambe et al., 2012).

3.2.3. Evapotranspiration and sublimation

Evaporative fluxes – including evapotranspiration over land, evaporation over water bodies, and sublimation over ice and snow – have so far received limited attention in the HKH.

Studies of the Tibetan Plateau have investigated evapotranspiration on a regional scale using satellite data or reanalysis products (Shenbin et al., 2006; Song et al., 2017) as well as climate data of multiple weather stations (W. Wang et al., 2013), or as part of regional hydrological models (Khanal et al. [2021]; Figure 3.2). Trends vary across the region and even between studies, some suggesting an increase and others a decrease over past decades. The link to the cryosphere comes via the question of whether the evaporative fluxes are water- or energy-limited, and to what degree the changing active layer and resulting availability of soil moisture, impacted by a thawing permafrost, plays a role.

However, field studies to validate large-scale investigations or investigate processes in more detail remain rare. Limited investigations have measured evapotranspiration using the eddy covariance method (Chang et al., 2017) and lysimeters (L. Wang et al., 2020). These field studies suggest that solar radiation, and hence cloud cover, plays the most important role in determining evaporative fluxes, air temperature is a poor proxy, and the influence of wind speed varies between locations.

A study investigating evaporative fluxes from lakes on the Tibetan Plateau suggests that ~51.7 km³ per year of lake water evaporates to the atmosphere over all lakes (B. Wang et al., 2020), approximately twice the amount of glacier mass and 6 times the amount of permafrost mass lost each year.

Evaporative fluxes over snow and ice – sublimation – have previously been only addressed scantily. Regional estimates have been recently attempted, and field studies measuring sublimation on, or close to glacier surfaces agree well on sublimation rates in the order of 1 mm per day with strong seasonal variations (Guo et al., 2021, 2022; Mandal et al., 2022; Stigter et al., 2018). Over debris-covered ice, this process is more complex and comparable to evapotranspiration over ground (Steiner et al., 2018).



Data source: Khanal et al. (2021)

3.2.4. Future changes in melt run-off

The expected regional warming varies from 1.8°C to 2.2°C in different parts of the HKH if global warming were to be limited to 1.5°C above the preindustrial level, as targeted by the Paris Agreement of 2015. The projected regional warming over the HKH is expected to result in wastage of about one- to two-thirds of its glacier mass by the end of the twenty-first century under various climate scenarios (Kraaijenbrink et al., 2017). With much larger variability in space, it is also expected to result in considerable further reduction of the snowpack across all basins of the HKH, with significant impacts on streamflows (Kraaijenbrink et al., 2021). Moreover, the suggested warming is greater at higher elevations, due to elevation-dependent warming (Pepin et al., 2015; Chapter 2, this volume), indicating that the regional warming trends are possibly an underestimate (Bolch et al., 2019). The projected changes in regional temperatures and precipitation over the twenty-first century (Kraaijenbrink et al., 2017; Krishnan et al., 2019) will affect the snow cover and mass balance of glaciers in the HKH; therefore, changes in the volume of, and seasonality in snowmelt and glacier melt are expected. Two effects that follow from this climatic change - which have a considerable impact on melt run-off - are reduction in glacier surface albedo due to less snow, resulting in the increased absorption of solar radiation and therefore increased melting, and an earlier onset of snowmelt and glacier melt and a delayed onset of snow cover, resulting in longer melt periods (Azam et al., 2021).

A recent global-scale study suggested a general rise in annual glacier run-off until the mid-21st century (Huss & Hock, 2018). A dedicated regional study, focused on two watersheds – Baltoro (in the Karakoram) and Langtang (in the central Himalaya) – in different climatic regimes, projected an increasing total run-off until the end of the twentyfirst century (Immerzeel et al., 2013). However, in the Baltoro Watershed, the rise in total run-off is mainly due to increased glacier melt, while in the Langtang Watershed it is due to higher monsoonal precipitation. Increasing glacier melt throughout the

twenty-first century was also projected in the Shigar Watershed (in the Karakoram) due to an increase in both temperature and winter precipitation (Soncini et al., 2015). Conversely, in the Upper Indus Basin, decreased glacier melt in combination with increased snowmelt, leading to an overall reduction in river run-off, has also been suggested (Hasson, 2016). Studies focusing on the entire HKH region, suggested an increasing river run-off until 2050, mainly due to increased glacier melt in the Upper Indus Basin (Nie et al., 2021) and increased monsoonal precipitation in the Upper Ganges and Brahmaputra basins (Lutz et al., 2022). Nie et al. (2021) projected that the glacier area will decline with accelerated melt throughout the twenty-first century, leading to peak glacier melt run-off in the 2050s under the representative concentration pathway (RCP)4.5 and in the 2060s under RCP8.5 (Figure 3.3).

The peak melt contribution is highlighted in Figure 3.3 by the green vertical bars. A recent, detailed review suggested large uncertainties and some exceptions to these projected increases in river run-off in the HKH. However, despite these reported uncertainties and exceptions in future increases in river run-off, the trends in seasonal shifts of snowmelt and glacier melt are rather consistent (Azam et al., 2021). An early onset of snowmelt has been suggested despite the overall reduction in run-off in the Upper Indus Basin (Hasson, 2016). In the Shigar Watershed (in the Upper Indus Basin), snowmelt is projected to start in April rather than June by the late twenty-first century (2090–2099) under RCP8.5 (Soncini et al., 2015). The general increasing snowmelt and glacier melt run-off and shifts in their seasonality throughout the twentyfirst century will undoubtedly have a complex and dynamic set of impacts on agriculture, hydropower, and fragile ecosystems in the HKH, demanding proactive responses by policy makers, local communities, and the international community working for sustainable development.

FIGURE 3.3





Note: The dark blue line shows the change in glacier area for 2001–2100. The shaded area represents a standard deviation of ±1. The green vertical bars represent the peak water contribution from glacier run-off.

Data source: Nie et al. (2021)

3.2.5. Projected changes in water availability and extremes

Climate change is expected to cause significant changes in the cryosphere and subsequently impact the hydrological cycle and overall water availability in the HKH (Huss & Hock, 2018; Kraaijenbrink et al., 2017; Krishnan et al., 2019). The responses of hydrological processes to climate change depends on spatiotemporal scales and varies significantly from sub-catchment to river basin scales and sub-daily to seasonal and decadal time scales (Khanal et al., 2021; H. Zheng et al., 2018). The responses differ in the climatically and hydrologically diverse HKH region, where snowmelt and glacier melt dominate run-off generated at higher elevations, whereas rainfall run-off and base flow processes dominate run-off generation at lower elevations. Responses also vary from east to west and south to north depending on the regional climate and hydrological regimes. Using Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 6 (CMIP6) climate change projections, Khanal et al. (2021) found that an increasing fraction of rainfall, attributed to a warming climate, results in a faster translation of precipitation into run-off and in a higher magnitude of peak run-off by the end of the century (2071-2100) in the upstream areas of all 15 river basins in HMA. Data for 12 major river basins of the HKH is presented in Figure 3.4. The earlier onset of snowmelt and glacier melt run-off results in earlier peak flows by the end of the century for the Amu Darya and Indus river basins, which fall under the 'glacio-nival' hydrological regime category.

Depending on the selected combination of projected temperature and precipitation, that is, warm-wet, cold-wet, warm-dry, and cold-dry, future changes in total water availability differ (Khanal et al., 2021). The total water availability increases (decreases) for the end of the century for wet (dry) conditions. On average, under wet (dry) conditions, the total water availability increases (decreases) by 23%-26% (-23% to -27.2%) for the Ganges, 28%-30% (-16% to -17%) for the Indus, and 18%-21% (-22% to -25%) for the Brahmaputra River Basin. Similar contrasting results between the scenarios are reported by earlier regional studies based on CMIP5 projections for these basins, which illustrates the uncertainty regarding any assessment of climate change impacts in this region (Wijngaard et al., 2017; H. Zheng et al., 2018).

In the HKH, the changes in future total water availability are larger at higher elevations compared to lower elevations for the different hydrological regimes (Khanal et al., 2021). At higher elevations, the total water availability increases either due to an increase in the melt contribution until 'peak water' is reached or due to an increase in the liquid precipitation fraction in the future. Both conditions are mainly driven by increased temperatures or precipitation. However, this increased water availability levels off and decreases when lower regions dominated by rainfall run-off are considered. Also, the uncertainties are rather large, mainly stemming from uncertainties in future projections for precipitation (Azam et al., 2021).

Seasonal shifts are expected for the future with changing melt patterns and the onset and retreat of the monsoon. In the snow and glacier meltwaterdominated Upper Indus Basin, flows likely increase in the shoulder seasons, spring and autumn, whereas flows during the peak flow season slightly decline (Lutz et al., 2016). In river basins in the western part of the HKH with a melt-dominated hydrological regime (Amu Darya, Helmand, and the Indus), the onset of melting may shift 1 to 2 months earlier in the year (Huss & Hock, 2018). In particular, flows may decline in the second half (July-September) of the present peak melt season. These findings are in line with those for the Upper Indus Basin (Azmat et al., 2020; Lutz et al., 2016). For river basins dominated by southern and south-eastern rainfall (Ganges, Brahmaputra, Irrawaddy, Mekong, and Salween), no strong seasonal shifts are projected. With flows being heavily influenced by the monsoon, changes in flows will mainly be driven by changes in the magnitude and timing of monsoon precipitation. These findings are in line with projections for the Indus, Ganges, Brahmaputra, Salween, and Mekong basins (Lutz et al., 2022). A general conclusion is that for rivers with a larger role for meltwater, a stronger seasonal shift to earlier months is expected (Azmat et al., 2020; Khanal et al., 2021).

With climate change, not only are average flows expected to increase but also the frequency and magnitude of hydrological extremes (Adler et al., 2022). A reduced buffering capacity due to loss of glacier ice and snow storages contributes further to more erratic flows. High flow extremes are expected to increase strongly across the Upper Indus, Ganges, and Brahmaputra river basins (Wijngaard et al., 2017). A study of the Brahmaputra Basin indicates an increase in both high- and low-flow extremes (Mohammed et al., 2017). Even though the total water availability at higher elevations increases, the changes in the timing and magnitude of peak water availability and seasonality impose a serious threat for the livelihoods of people living in these regions (Biemans et al., 2019; Immerzeel et al., 2020; Khanal et al., 2021).

FIGURE 3.4

CHANGES IN THE MEAN ANNUAL CYCLES OF TOTAL RUN-OFF (Qall) BY THE END OF THE CENTURY (2071– 2100) IN THE 12 MAJOR RIVER BASINS OF THE HKH, FOR THE FOUR HYDROLOGICAL REGIMES



Notes: The coloured lines represent the mean of four groups of future scenarios, consisting of 12 dT/dP combinations each, warm-wet (6°C-8°C, 10%-40%), cold-wet (3°C-5°C, 10%-40%), warm-dry (6°C-8°C, -30%-0%), and cold-dry (3°C-5°C, -30%-0%). The colour shadings represent a standard deviation of ±2 for a group of scenarios (only shown for warm-wet and cold-dry). The black solid lines represent the reference (1985–2014) mean annual cycle of total run-off. The vertical black error bars represent the total estimated variance calculated, using the first-order second-moment method for the reference climate for 1985–2014. The vertical dashed lines represent the peak flow months for each group of scenarios. The text on the top left and top right gives the hydrological regime (GN – glacio-nival, NP – nival–pluvial, N – nival, Pl – pluvial) and basin name, respectively.

Data source: Khanal et al. (2021)

3.3. Water-related hazards in the HKH

The recent contribution to the IPCC's Sixth assessment report with a focus on mountains (Adler et al., 2022) found that, with respect to hazards, Asia has received the most attention in the scientific literature from all continents. It finds a predominantly negative impact, while attribution confidence remains low, and the contribution of climate change remains at a medium level in a three-tier grading system (see Figure CCP5.4 therein). While the frequency of disasters shows an increasing trend in the HKH, the same is due both to a changing climate as well as to increased exposure (the latter is discussed in more detail in Chapter 5 in this volume). In the following subsections, we discuss observed hazards in the HKH mountains related to the cryosphere and the hydrosphere since 2015. This is followed by a discussion of our ability to attribute these events to a changing climate, a look into possible changes in their frequency and nature, and the specific role of changing sediment loads from mass movements. We close with an outlook into a future with uncertain trends and consequences.

3.3.1. Observed hazards in recent years

The HKH region has experienced a wide variety of hazards related to the cryosphere and hydrosphere in recent years. Few of these have so far been documented comprehensively. There exists considerable overlap between different types of hazards, in both their genesis and occurrence as cascading hazards. The types of hazards documented in the HKH are shown in Figure 3.5. While there is evidence for all, peer-reviewed academic literature remains unavailable as yet for some (for example, snow droughts, which refers to a lack of snowfall or snowpack in seasons where they would otherwise be expected to be present), is limited to single digits for others (for example, avalanches, hanging glaciers), but has seen more than 250 published papers for glacial lake outburst floods (GLOFs) alone since 2017 (Emmer et al., 2022).

FIGURE 3.5

A SCHEMATIC REPRESENTATION OF THE DOCUMENTED HAZARDS RELATED TO THE CRYOSPHERE AND HYDROSPHERE IN THE HKH





Notes: Events are coloured and symbolised by type. Numbers indicated are fatalities for individual events. Permafrost probability is based on data from Obu (2021). The bold black outline marks the HKH outline, permafrost extent is shown in blue, glacier outlines are shown in cyan.

Of all the types of hazards, avalanches get initiated at the highest elevations. A study on the western Himalaya suggests that rising temperatures in the last century have contributed to an increase in the occurrence of snow avalanches (Ballesteros-Cánovas et al., 2018). Snow and ice avalanches with casualties or considerable infrastructural damage are generally limited to a few singular events, but total fatalities are larger than for any other hazard. An overview of cryosphere-related hazards in the HKH since 2015 is presented in Figure 3.6.

Large co-seismic events occurred during the 2015 Gorkha earthquake that caused numerous casualties in the Everest region (Bartelt et al., 2016). A multicomponent avalanche destroyed a village completely and killed more than 250 people in the Langtang catchment (Fujita et al., 2017; Kargel et al., 2016). These two recent events in the central Himalaya were avalanches that included not only snow but parts of hanging glaciers, debris, and underlying rock. In similarly steep terrain, events with a much larger proportion of bedrock have been documented in the Indian Himalaya, on Siachen Glacier in 2010 (Berthier & Brun, 2019) and in Chamoli in 2021 (Shugar et al., 2021), the latter killing more than 200 people and causing considerable infrastructural damage, including serious damage to two downstream hydropower plants under construction. A similar event occurred in 2017 on the Sedongpu Glacier in south-eastern Tibet (Chen et al., 2020; Kääb et al., 2021) and the Lower Barun Lake in Nepal the same year (Byers et al., 2019). While there are individual changes potentially linked to a warming climate, such as unstable headwalls or overlaying glacier tongues, in none of these events could climate change be identified as the definite reason for their occurrence. However, nearly all of them propagated downstream into cascading, multi-hazard events,

a frequent phenomenon in the HKH (Kirschbaum et al., 2019; Rusk et al., 2022). Here, these mass flow events pair with other processes that have been better documented and which are partly attributed to climate change.

Lake outburst floods can occur from temporary or permanent lakes that are either ice- or morainedammed in the case of glacial lakes (GLOFs) or dammed by landslide material (landslide-dammed lake outburst floods, LLOFs). While there has been clear evidence for an increase in the number of lakes in the region during recent decades (Nie et al., 2017), a study finds no clear evidence for an increase in the occurrence of GLOFs at least for moraine-dammed lakes (Veh et al., 2019), or at best a very heterogeneous response that still remains difficult to disentangle (Harrison et al., 2018; Veh et al., 2022). For GLOFs from ice-dammed lakes, the record remains too short and scant to reach definite conclusions; however, a few events have been well documented in recent years. Such GLOFs often happen as surging glaciers block valleys, a common phenomenon in the Karakoram. During recent years, repeat GLOFs due to such valley blockages have been reported for Kyagar, Khurdopin, and Shisper glaciers (Bhambri et al., 2020; Muhammad et al., 2021; Round et al., 2017).

GLOFs can also occur as sudden drainages of supraglacial lakes, an event documented in the Everest region in 2015, on the Lothse Glacier in 2016 (Rounce et al., 2017), and on Changri Shar Glacier in 2017 (Miles et al., 2018). Satellite imagery and news reports from the Pakistan Hindu Kush reveal similar events in 2019 and 2020 on Rogheli Glacier, causing substantial damage to a hydropower project, and in 2018 on Badswat Glacier, flooding a village. There were also repeat events in 2018 and 2021 in the Pishgor Valley in Panjshir, Afghanistan, with 10 fatalities.

Most of these GLOFs have caused debris flows downstream that subsequently increased risks to life, livelihoods, and property, as solid deposits generally make agricultural land unusable for years and can cause larger damage to infrastructure. Even without a water source, such mass movements have however been observed. The initial mass volumes of rock and ice in the case of Langtang in Nepal, Chamoli in India, and Sedongpu in China were relatively small compared to the final volume of material that was mobilised along their runout paths. In all cases, massive debris flows caused heavy destruction or valley blockages downstream.

Debris flows have also occurred in lower regions, driven by heavy rainfall. This has been especially intense in the central Himalaya, where the combination of slope instability caused by the 2015 earthquake and subsequent monsoons has resulted in many dozens of debris flows (Dahlquist & West, 2019). While an intensification of short-duration rainfall extremes is expected in Asia in general (Fowler et al., 2021; Kim & Bae, 2020), there is no clear indication how this will impact its mountainous areas. An especially large event, following a highprecipitation event, occurred in June 2021 in the Melamchi catchment in Nepal, in which repeat debris flows caused heavy damage to infrastructure, displaced dozens of families, and led to multiple fatalities (Maharjan et al., 2021). Besides the instability of slopes caused by the earthquake, which has been shown to have effects for multiple years after the event itself (Kincey et al., 2021), a changing state of permafrost may also have contributed to some of these disasters. However, our knowledge about the state of the active layer remains limited in the region due to a lack of field evidence.

A phenomenon that has only been described in more detail in very recent years is glacier detachments. Contrary to break-offs of ice at high elevations that generally lead to powder avalanches, or glacier surges where ablation zones accelerate but only do so over many days or weeks and never detach from the actual glacier itself, a number of events have been documented in which parts of the ablation zone of a glacier have rapidly collapsed and caused an ice avalanche (Kääb et al., 2021; Leinss et al., 2021; Tian et al., 2017). Such events are limited to the northern fringes of the HKH and the Tibetan Plateau. Increasing amounts of meltwater at the base of these glacier tongues are a potential reason for some of these detachments and could be linked to rising temperatures (Kääb et al., 2018).

Insights on droughts in mountainous areas in the HKH remain limited. Investigations from the Kosi Basin suggest an increase in the frequency of soil moisture droughts in recent decades (Nepal, Pradhananga, et al., 2021). Conversely, snow cover is projected to decrease in the future with potentially dire consequences in basins dependent on snowmelt as a resource (Kraaijenbrink et al., 2021; Nepal, Khatiwada, et al., 2021).

Similarly, poorly documented are heavy snowfall events or blizzards. For example, Cyclone Hudhud claimed multiple lives within a few days in 2014 and the huge amounts of accumulated snow possibly contributed subsequently to the large Langtang avalanche in 2015 triggered by the Gorkha earthquake (Fujita et al., 2017).

3.3.2. From compound events to cascading hazards

Compound drivers (Zscheischler et al., 2020) are increasingly documented associated with hazards occurring in high mountain environments. At the same time, and often as a result of compound drivers, hazards have often become cascading in nature, whereby a sequence of secondary events result in an impact that is significantly larger than the initial impact (Collins et al., 2019; Kirschbaum et al., 2019). In the context of hazards, cascading events are sometimes interchangeably referred to as multihazard (or consequently multi-risk). The term 'multihazard' further helps to acknowledge the increasing occurrence of concurrent hazards that may interact (and hence be a compound event) or occur in parallel, resulting in a bigger impact than any single hazard would (Tilloy et al., 2019). Adler et al. (2022) suggest that the state of our knowledge allows us to state with high confidence that the increasingly concurrent occurrence of drivers makes cascading impacts a common feature in mountain hazards.

During recent years, a number of compound and/ or cascading events have been recorded in the HKH, along with its drivers and major processes (Table 3.2). For most events, the documentation of process chains as well as downstream impacts remains patchy. While casualties and infrastructural damages are recorded, information about long-term effects on the economy, ecosystems, and livelihoods is rare. Analyses of any feedback effects between impacts of mass flows and aspects like human migration (within the watersheds or outside of them) or infrastructure investment (especially road and hydropower construction) remain lacking (see also Chapter 5). Events with high impacts on human settlements (for example, the Melamchi flood disaster or the Badswat GLOF; see Table 3.2) have caused significant displacement of local populations without the possibility of their returning for multiple years.

Compound drivers of cascading events and associated risks are both non-climatic as well as climatic. The effect of road construction on the increasing number of landslides following slope instabilities after the 2015 earthquake has already been shown (Kincey et al., 2021; McAdoo et al., 2018; Rosser et al., 2021). Similarly, as hydropower and road infrastructure is increasingly being constructed in the upstream areas of watersheds, the risk of exposure to mass flow events has been increasing (D. Li et al., 2022). Other drivers include the frequent occurrence of glacier surges that block river discharge that is released rapidly during the warmer seasons (specifically occurring in the Karakoram), as well as seismic shocks and their after-effects, visible today especially from the Wenchuan, Kashmir, and Gorkha earthquakes (Kincey et al., 2021; S. Zhang et al., 2014).

Confirmed climatic drivers include increasing rainfall intensities and higher temperatures, resulting in large (snow and ice) melt amounts that drive short-term lake expansion and soil saturation. Intense snowfall causing the failure of underlying ice or rock surfaces has been hypothesised to be a potential driver in a few isolated events. Thawing permafrost or the frost cracking due to changing permafrost in headwalls has been found to be on the increase elsewhere (Gruber & Haeberli, 2007) and it is possible that it has contributed to recent cascading events. However, permafrost mapping and studies remain scarce in the HKH, which precludes more certainty on this topic. A definite attribution to anthropogenic climate change however remains elusive and so far has not been attempted in the HKH. In subsection 3.3.3, we outline an approach for the example of GLOFs.

TABLE 3.2

OVERVIEW OF ALL RECORDED CRYOSPHERE-RELATED EVENTS IN THE HKH SINCE 2015

Event	Date	Туре	Processes	Drivers (confirmed, suspected)	Casualties	References
Langtang avalanche	2015	Cascading + compound	Hanging glacier avalanche	Seismic impact, snowfall	350	(Fujita et al. 2017)
Supraglacial GLOFs at Changri Shar and Lhotse	2015/ 2016/2017	Cascading	GLOF (supraglacial lake)	Glacier melt	_	(Miles et al., 2018; Rounce et al., 2017)
Landslides and debris flows in Nepal	2015-till date	Cascading+ compound	Earthquake, landslides	Seismic impact, precipitation	NA	(Kincey et al., 2021; Sharma et al., 2022)
Sedongpu avalanche and glacier detachment	2017/2018	Cascading	Avalanche, glacier detachment, debris flow	Surging glacier, snow accumulation	_	(Kääb et al., 2021)
Langmale rockfall and GLOF	2017	Cascading	Rockfall, GLOF	Not clear	-	(Byers et al., 2019)
Ice-dammed GLOFs at Khurdopin, Shisper, and Kyagar glaciers	2017–2022 (annually)	Compound	GLOF (ice- dammed lake)	Surging glacier, glacier melt, <i>snowmelt</i>	_	
Darmander/ Rogheli/ Badswat GLOFs	2018/2019	Compound + cascading	GLOF, debris flows	Snow and glacier melt, <i>high</i> intensity rainfall	_	
Chamoli rockslide	02/2021	Compound + cascading	Ice and rockslide, debris flow	lce melt, permafrost thaw	204	(Shugar et al., 2021)
Melamchi debris flow	06/2021	Compound + cascading	GLOF, LLOF, debris flow	Intense precipitation, snowmelt, permafrost thaw	25	(Maharjan et al., 2021)

Notes: Type, processes involved, and drivers (confirmed as well as *suspected*) are based on the references given. If no reference is given, it means the information is based on local sources. Casualties are given only for events where they can be ascertained and may be underestimations due to poor documentation of downstream impacts.

3.3.3. Attribution of high-mountain cryosphere change and cryosphere-related hazards

GLOFs from moraine- or ice-dammed lakes occur primarily through two mechanisms: (i) a dam breach leading to a rapid draining of the lake, or (ii) a moraine-overtopping wave induced by a landslide or avalanche. In either case, the flood hazard is a consequence of the characteristics of the moraine dam, the size of the lake, and the likelihood of a triggering event (T. Zhang et al., 2022). The recession of lake-terminating glaciers can expand existing proglacial lakes or form new lakes in the wake of their retreat (Linsbauer et al., 2015). Consequently, the anthropogenic contribution to glacier retreat is a key determinant of human influence on GLOF hazards and their occurrence.

Glacier retreat is an established consequence of anthropogenic climate change (Eyring et al., 2021; Hock et al., 2019; Roe et al., 2017; Zemp et al., 2015). Globally, virtually all glacier mass loss has been attributed to anthropogenic climate forcing (Roe et al., 2021).

The response of any individual glacier to changes in climate depends on its climatological and geographical setting. These factors include the glacier geometry, underlying topography, the presence of debris cover, or contact with a glacial lake (Shean et al., 2020). Local factors, including glacier response to shifting precipitation patterns, can dampen or amplify mass-balance responses to temperature-induced changes in equilibrium line altitude (ELA), explaining departures from the dominant picture of predominantly temperatureinduced glacier retreat, such as the Karakoram Anomaly (Farinotti et al., 2020).

The IPCC's *Sixth assessment report (AR6)* did not identify formal climate change attribution studies for individual glaciers in the HKH, although glaciers in the region are included in attribution literature underlying the IPCC's assessment (e.g. Hirabayashi et al., 2016). Nevertheless, observations of glacier retreat since the mid-nineteenth century across much of the HKH region (Bolch et al., 2012), existing literature on the drivers and mechanisms of retreat in the region, and attribution of glacier retreat in other regions provide empirical and theoretical bases that suggest that the observed changes in HKH glacier lengths can *very likely* be attributed primarily to human influence.

ATTRIBUTION OF CHANGES IN TEMPERATURE AND PRECIPITATION

The IPCC's Sixth assessment report assessed that anthropogenic warming is approximately equal to observed global warming between 1850-1900 and 2010-2019 (Eyring et al., 2021). Since the midtwentieth century, anthropogenic influence has also been the main contributor to increases in surface temperature in high mountain regions (Hock et al., 2019). Regional assessments applying optimal fingerprinting methods found that the observed temperature change over India can be attributed primarily to greenhouse gas forcing, balanced by cooling due to other anthropogenic forcings, largely associated with aerosols and land-use change (Dileepkumar et al., 2018). Anthropogenic forcing is also the dominant driver of annual and seasonal temperature change in regions surrounding the HKH, including Central Asia (Peng et al., 2019) and western China (Y. Wang et al., 2018).

Attribution of changes in precipitation extremes is more region-specific and evidence in the region is limited. Extreme precipitation events are increasing in frequency in north-western (Malik et al., 2016), western (Madhura et al., 2015), and central HKH (Talchabhadel et al., 2018), but such trends have not been observed in the eastern HKH (Doblas-Reyes et al., 2021).

Although actual attribution in the region is still lacking, it has been noted in AR6 that "most of the observed intensification of heavy precipitation over land regions is likely due to anthropogenic influence" (Seneviratne et al., 2021). Locally, studies have also already shown human influence on precipitation dynamics, for example, through aerosols (Adhikari & Mejia, 2021) or irrigation (Devanand et al., 2019).

ATTRIBUTION OF CHANGING GLOF HAZARDS IN THE HKH

The retreat of mountain glaciers has increased the size and number of glacial lakes (Shugar et al., 2020). In the HKH region, analyses of remotesensing data showed that the number and area of glacial lakes have increased during 1990–2010. Lakes close or adjacent to glacier termini – for which the relationship between glacier retreat and lake size is the most direct – have undergone the largest changes in area (G. Zhang et al., 2015). Between 1990 and 2015, 401 new glacial lakes formed across the western, central, and eastern Himalaya, and lake area increased by 14.1% across the region (Nie et al., 2017). These increases in glacial lake area have been attributed to glacier retreat (W. Wang et al., 2015) and have led to an increase in the number of glacial lakes identified as potentially dangerous (Bolch et al., 2019).

Recent research demonstrated a clear link between human-induced climate change and an observed GLOF event and ongoing risk of a GLOF from a glacial lake in Peru (Stuart-Smith et al., 2021). No such formal attribution studies have been conducted to date in the HKH region, although Zheng, Mergili, et al. (2021) provided a strong argument for linking a landslide from a destabilised lateral moraine and a related outburst of the rapidly expanding Jinwuco Lake in 2020 to anthropogenic warming and glacier retreat. Substantial increases in the number and size of glacial lakes are projected to occur and result in elevated GLOF risk across the HKH due to future climate change (Furian et al., 2021, 2022; Zheng, Allen, et al., 2021). The IPCC's AR6 stated that many newly-formed lakes in the HKH will develop at the foot of steep slopes, and that the risk of avalanches from steep, glaciated slopes and mass movement resulting from reduced slope stability as permafrost degrades is increasing across the region (Ranasinghe et al., 2021). Given the consistency in the relationship between observed and projected climate change, glacier retreat, and GLOF hazards, these findings provide a strong indication that existing changes in GLOF hazards can also be attributed to anthropogenic influences.

The increase in GLOF hazards through the formation and expansion of glacial lakes has not yet translated into an elevated rate of flood events. Despite increases in the number and size of glacial lakes, there is limited evidence of an increase in the numbers of GLOFs in recent decades worldwide (Harrison et al., 2018). This is in line with observations from the HKH, where the frequency of GLOFs from moraine-dammed lakes has not increased since the late 1980s (Veh et al., 2019). This is likely to be a consequence of the sequential timescales over which (i) glacier retreat responds to climatic perturbations, and (ii) GLOFs occur following glacier retreat and lake formation or expansion. Mountain glacier lengths respond to changes in climate on multi-decadal timescales (Jóhannesson et al., 1989). As glaciers retreat, an additional period of time, which may extend to decades or centuries, will elapse before GLOFtriggering events occur.

The magnitude of the anthropogenic contribution to individual GLOF events will differ across both climatic as well as topographic settings. The size of this contribution will depend on whether climate change has led to the formation or expansion of a lake, the extent to which observed changes in glacier length exceed the range of fluctuations that can be explained by natural variability alone, and whether or not anthropogenic climate change has played a role in the GLOF trigger, for instance by undermining slope stability.

3.3.4. Observed and projected changes in erosion and sediment loads driven by cryospheric degradation and a changing hydrology

CURRENTLY OBSERVED CHANGES IN EROSION AND SEDIMENT LOADS, AND THEIR DRIVERS

Climate change and associated cryospheric degradation can severely alter erosion and sediment transport in high mountain areas that has a bearing on land degradation, soil productivity, hydropower systems, water quality, and aquatic ecosystems. Here, we synthesise the available evidence regarding increased erosion and sediment loads in the pristine headwaters in HMA from the scientific literature, presenting evidence for increases in sediment yields driven by climate change and cryospheric degradation. On average, the suspended sediment load from HMA headwaters has increased by ~80% over the past six decades in response to accelerating glacier melt and permafrost thaw, and increased precipitation (D. Li et al., 2021). In the western Himalaya, the increased sediment yields coincide with accelerating glacier recession. In the Chandra River of the Ganges Basin, a two-fold increase in suspended sediment load has been observed between

1978–1995 and 2017, accompanied by a 67% reduction in the mass of low-elevation glaciers (Singh et al., 2020). In the headwaters of the Yangtze River, the thawing of ice-rich permafrost and the associated expansion of active erodible landscapes have led to a net increase in suspended sediment load by 135% between 1985–1997 and 1998–2016 (D. Li et al., 2020, 2021). In the headwaters of the Brahmaputra River, the suspended sediment load has increased by ~70%, mainly due to increased precipitation and because of intensified glacier melt and thawing of permafrost (Shi et al., 2022). Furthermore, erosion and sediment load in years with GLOFs have been reported to be significantly higher than those without (Cook et al., 2018), although the long-term trends of changes in the magnitude and frequency of GLOFs in HMA remain largely uncertain (Veh et al., 2019; Zheng, Allen, et al., 2021). There exists a link between extreme precipitation (and the resulting increase in rainfall erosivity) and sediment yields. However, while this has been investigated in downstream areas of watersheds originating in the HKH (X. Xu et al., 2021; Z. Xu et al., 2021), it has so far not been investigated within the HKH itself.

Observations on bedload (for example, gravels and boulders) transport in HMA are extremely rare. However, knowledge on bedload is especially relevant to the operation of hydropower systems and aquatic habitats for fishes and macroinvertebrates. In a changing climate, the bedload flux in HMA's rivers could also have increased substantially over the past decades due to the increasing discharge and will likely continue to increase in the future (D. Li et al., 2021).

In addition to the multi-decadal increases in erosion and sediment loads in HMA, decreased sediment loads or stability in sediment loads have also been reported (D. Li et al., 2018; Swarnkar et al., 2021). Such distinctive trends are often due to the impacts of human activities (for example, large amounts of sediment inflow trapped in large reservoirs [D. Li et al., 2018]) and the large storage of sediment in the sediment cascade system (for example, substantial sediment deposition on floodplains and wide alluvial valleys [Sinha et al., 2019]).

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES ON DOWNSTREAM IMPACTS OF CHANGING EROSION AND SEDIMENT LOADS

Using a climate elasticity model (that evaluates the effects of changing temperature and precipitation), a recent study stated that fluvial sediment loads will very likely increase in the coming decades in a warmer and wetter HMA (D. Li et al., 2021). The modelling results show that, on average, a 10% increase in precipitation results in a $24\% \pm 5\%$ (mean ± standard error) increase in sediment load, and that a 1°C increase in air temperature results in a 32% ± 10% increase in sediment load. For a less extreme climate change scenario (that is, temperature increases by 1.5°C and precipitation increases by 10% by 2050, relative to the 1995-2015 averages), the total sediment load from HMA as a whole will increase from 1.94 ± 0.80 billion tonnes per year (Gt per year) at present to 3.32 ± 1.18 Gt per year. For an extreme climate change scenario, (that is, temperature increases by 3°C and precipitation increases by 30% by 2050, relative to the same baseline period, 1995-2015), the total sediment load from HMA will likely more than double. However, the predicted future fluvial sediment load from HMA represents projections reflecting the impact of climate change on sediment export from basin outlets located both within and towards the margins of HMA. As such, they are therefore not the direct reflection of the actual sediment output from HMA's rivers, because sediment storage in downstream, wide alluvial valleys, future reservoir construction, and land-use changes could also impact sediment loads substantially (Syvitski et al., 2022).

In a warmer future associated with more precipitation extremes, sediment yields in glacierised basins in HMA can be expected to initially increase, driven by increased glacial erosion and sediment supply, increased transport capacity (meltwater discharge), expanded subglacial drainage networks, and increased rainstorms and extreme floods (Herman et al., 2021). However, with continuing glacier recession, there will be an eventual decline in sediment yields due to the reduced glacial erosion and meltwater when glaciers shrink below a certain size and landscape stabilisation through negative feedbacks (for example, the formation of alluvial fans decreasing sediment connectivity and colonisation by vegetation in proglacial areas [Lane et al., 2017]). The duration of the current increasing phase of

sediment yields is likely scale-dependent, with the timing of 'peak sediment yield' close to the timing of 'peak discharge' of nearby glaciers and decades to centuries later in larger, downstream regions (D. Li et al., 2022).

Increased riverine sediment loads will not only threaten hydropower systems through causing reservoir sedimentation, conduction canal or tunnel sedimentation in run-of-the-river hydropower projects, and turbine abrasion, reducing reservoir lifespans and affecting reservoir services for water supply, hydropower generation, irrigation, and flood control (D. Li et al., 2022). The rising riverine sediment concentrations can also negatively impact water quality and aquatic ecosystems. Fine, suspended sediment particles constitute an important vector for the transport of phosphorus and most heavy metals, such as mercury, chromium, arsenic, and lead. Thus, climate change is likely to increase sediment-associated nutrient and contaminant fluxes in HMA's rivers. Furthermore, suspended sediment is a key vector for organic carbon transport; the precise role of erosion and sediment delivery in mobilising organic carbon from glacial and permafrost landscapes and delivering it to fluvial systems could be substantial. Current fluvial sediment in HMA could carry a total of 20-60 million tonnes (Mt) of carbon per year, and this number could more than double by 2050 under extreme climate change scenarios (D. Li et al., 2021). More observations are needed to assess the positive feedback between climate warming, permafrost degradation, and the carbon cycle.

3.3.5. What to expect: Projected changes for mountain hazards

Few studies have systematically modelled and assessed projected changes in cryosphere-related hazards in the HKH. As a consequence, projections are typically based on inferences from what has been observed in the past, both in the HKH and more widely in other regions, and what can be expected based on a physical understanding of the underlying processes and their linkages. Therefore, even an absence of evidence regarding, or ambiguity in past trends does not necessarily allow us to discard a certain process from happening in the future. As assessed by the IPCC, confidence is generally highest concerning projected changes in GLOFs, owing to the continued growth of existing lakes, and the formation of many new lakes anticipated over the coming century in most mountain regions (Hock et al., 2019). As a consequence, South Asia, the Tibetan Plateau, and Central Asia have been highlighted as regions where severe disruption to people and infrastructure can be expected from flooding, under global warming levels of 1.5°C-3°C above pre-industrial levels (Adler et al., 2022). This finding is underpinned by several regional and local studies that project significant future glacial lake expansion as depressions in glacier beds are exposed by retreating ice (Furian et al., 2021; Mal et al., 2021; Rashid & Majeed, 2018; Sattar et al., 2021; Zheng, Allen, et al., 2021).

Considering not only the future expansion of glacial lakes, but also the physical characteristics of lake catchments and dam areas as well as exposure of communities and infrastructure downstream, Zheng, Allen, et al. (2021) demonstrated a potential 3-fold increase in GLOF risk across HMA by the end of the twenty-first century. There is notable regional variation, from east to west across the HKH, in projected glacial lake development, with glacial lakes in the eastern Himalaya already projected to be close to their maximum extent, and near a situation of 'peak GLOF risk' by 2050 under all RCP scenarios. Meanwhile, lakes in the western Himalaya and Karakoram will continue to increase significantly into the late twenty-first century and beyond. Not only does lake expansion increase the potential magnitude of future events, it also brings lakes closer towards steep and potentially destabilised mountain headwalls, increasing the likelihood of rock-ice avalanches triggering an outburst event (Haeberli et al., 2016; Sattar et al., 2021). Relative to current conditions, GLOF risk will increase most significantly in the central and western Himalayan regions, but the eastern Himalaya, including transboundary basins of Tibet and Nepal, remain the primary GLOF risk hotspot under all RCP scenarios (Figure 3.7; Zheng, Allen, et al., [2021]). Over longer timescales, and under larger warming scenarios, the Karakoram could emerge as a new major hotspot of GLOF hazards and risk (Furian et al., 2021; Zheng, Allen, et al., 2021), although there is large uncertainty in this prognosis given the current anomalous behaviour



Note: The black line marks the HKH outline, permafrost extent is shown in blue, and glacier outlines are shown in white. **Sources:** Obu (2021); Zheng, Allen, et al. (2021)

of glaciers in this region. Not considered by existing studies is the longevity of current and future glacial lakes, which may be affected by catchment erosion and sedimentation. If results from the European Alps are taken as indicative for the HKH, as much as 50% of the projected future lakes may be transient features, disappearing again before the end of the century owing to their being refilled with sediments (Steffen et al., 2022).

Hock et al. (2019) concluded, with *medium confidence*, that snow avalanches are projected to decline in number and runout distance at lower elevations, while avalanches involving wet snow will occur more frequently. With very few studies focusing on the HKH, a more nuanced regional assessment cannot be provided. At least in the western Himalayan region, Ballesteros-Cánovas et al. (2018) suggest, based on an extrapolation of reconstructed trends, that climate warming will continue to increase the hazard of avalanches, as warmer air temperatures in winter and early spring favour the more frequent occurrence of large, wet snow avalanches, which are able to reach populated valley bottoms. Devastating high elevation snow, or mixed snow-ice avalanches in Langtang, Nepal and Gayari, Pakistan (Fujita et al., 2017; Saif et al., 2022) highlight the particular threat of earthquakes occurring during periods of heavy snow loading. Extremely heavy precipitation events are expected to become more frequent in the future. At the highest elevations, this precipitation will continue to fall as snow, and large, earthquaketriggered snow avalanches are likely to be highimpact but low-frequency threats in the HKH.

Large avalanches of rock and/or ice are expected (with high confidence) to increase in frequency and magnitude under a warmer climate, with implications for associated, far-reaching cascading processes (Hock et al., 2019). This is underpinned by detailed examinations of several recent cascading events in the HKH, including a rock avalanchetriggered GLOF in the Upper Barun, Nepal (Byers et al., 2019), catastrophic floods generated by rockice avalanches along the Seti River, Nepal and Chamoli, India (Kropáček et al., 2021; Shugar et al., 2021; Siddique et al., 2022), and repeated rock-ice avalanches blocking the Yarlung Tsangpo River in eastern Tibet (W. Li et al., 2022). While climate change cannot be directly attributed as the cause for any one of these or earlier events, a common finding has been the identification of an initial mass movement originating from a zone likely to have been destabilised by recent deglaciation and/or degrading permafrost, and often, unusually warm or wet conditions preceding the disaster. In view of future climate change, such preconditioning and triggering factors are expected to become increasingly prevalent and relevant over the coming decades (Adler et al., 2022; Hock et al., 2019). At high elevations, cold permafrost is degrading slowly in response to atmospheric warming, leading to potential long-term and deep-seated destabilisation processes that could persist for centuries, even after atmospheric warming stabilises (Gruber et al., 2017; Shugar et al., 2021).

The drivers of large-scale detachments of lowgradient glacier tongues remain insufficiently understood. Nonetheless, the hypothesised requirement for partially or fully thawed glacier bed conditions and the presence of liquid water would point to a possible mechanism by which climate change could increase the frequency of such events in the future as well (Kääb et al., 2021; Leinss et al., 2021). A warmer climate increases the amount of meltwater, and may thus favour the development of instabilities, particularly in cold, dry environments, while thawing beneath and at the sides of glaciers could reduce shear stresses (Kääb et al., 2021).

Climate change and its influence on hazard processes is finally only one driver of future disaster risks in the HKH, and future changes in exposure and societal vulnerabilities could potentially lead to vastly different risk scenarios, especially where political, economic, and social conditions facilitate or impede effective disaster risk reduction (Zheng, Allen, et al., 2021). The current and planned expansion of hydropower infrastructure high into alpine valleys is of particular concern in relation to future GLOF risk (Mal et al., 2021; W. Wang et al., 2022), and risks associated with other avalanche-triggered cascading processes (Shugar et al., 2021).

3.4. Cumulative impacts on water use systems

The importance of the cryosphere for societies goes much beyond the provision of water and ecosystem services to people living in high mountain areas. Especially in river basins where the downstream plains receive little precipitation or highly variable precipitation, or both, but where human activity is high, the water resources originating from the mountains are crucial for a secure and stable downstream water supply. Over the past few years, research into the quantification of these upstreamdownstream dependencies, and the impacts of climate-related cryospheric changes on downstream water users has advanced significantly (Mukherji et al., 2019; Rasul & Molden, 2019).

Upstream and downstream linkages occur at different scales. The magnitude and nature of problems and related effects differ between the local micro catchment scale and the regional macro river basin scale. The activities and processes, both natural and anthropogenic, in upstream areas can influence downstream resources such as water availability and river morphology. For example, deforestation, erosion, water diversion, and infrastructure can alter the natural flow of a river and can affect water availability in downstream areas. Changes in wet and dry years have also already resulted in changes in agricultural area, crop yields, and an increase in damages in downstream areas (Bastakoti et al., 2017). Understanding these linkages can help integrated land and water planning and management (Flügel et al., 2018).

Glaciers, snow, permafrost and seasonally frozen ground, river and lake ice, glacial lakes, wetlands, and springs are the key components of the cryosphere and high mountain hydrosphere in the HKH. They provide provisioning, regulating, supporting, and cultural services, as well as disservices (Mukherji et al., 2019). The services are important not only for mountain communities but also in the lowlands (Rasul & Molden, 2019), and the disservices in the form of ice or snow avalanches or GLOFs can have far-reaching, cascading impacts (see subsection 3.4.2). From a water resources perspective, cryospheric services are important for sustaining river flows, recharging groundwater, and water use systems such as irrigation, domestic water supply, and hydropower (Scott et al., 2019).

3.4.1. Impacts of cryospheric change on agricultural and livestock services

In many river basins around the world, mountains provide a disproportionally high share of run-off to river basins, either from snowmelt run-off from glaciated catchments or contributions from streams, and therefore are important contributors to rivers flowing through downstream plains. Due to the increasing water consumption in those downstream areas, the global dependence on mountain water has risen immensely between the 1960s and the present, and is projected to increase further towards the middle of the twenty-first century (Viviroli et al., 2020). Many large irrigation systems are located in areas that are highly dependent on mountain water, implying that food production in those areas face the same dependence. In a comparative analysis, the water towers in the HKH (Indus, Ganges-Brahmaputra, Amu Darya, and Tarim Interior) were identified as among the most important in the world, because of their relatively high water supply from glacier melt and snowmelt combined with large downstream water demands (Immerzeel et al., 2020). Moreover, these five river basins - especially the Indus Basin - are also ranked among the most vulnerable to further increasing

pressures on water resources resulting from a combination of growing population, climate change, governance, and hydro-political tensions.

In the Indus Basin, more than 60% of the total annual flow that enters the Arabian Sea originates from snowmelt and glacier melt, but the meltwater contribution to the flow varies through the year (Biemans et al., 2019). Due to larger volumes of monsoon precipitation in India and Bangladesh as compared to Pakistan, the meltwater contribution to the flows of the Ganges and Brahmaputra river basins is much less, at around 10% and 20% respectively.

Quantifying the impacts of cryospheric processes on downstream water resources requires a good understanding and accurate representation of the spatial and temporal water demand and supply patterns, especially in a region where water shortages are mainly related to a spatial and temporal mismatch between water availability and demand, rather than an absolute shortage. In recent years, the representation in hydrological models of seasonal irrigation demands of complex cropping systems has improved (Biemans et al., 2016; Mathison et al., 2021). Additionally, the representation of the lateral transport and distribution of mountain water through irrigation canals, which is essential to understand the importance of mountain water for downstream uses, has also improved. It has been estimated that 129 million farmers in the Indus, Ganges, and Brahmaputra basins currently depend on water that originates from glacier melt and snowmelt to irrigate their crops. Especially during the warm and dry months before the monsoon rains start, the continuous availability of meltwater flow is crucial to irrigate the kharif (summer) crops, rice and cotton (Biemans et al., 2019). This buffering role of meltwater during dry periods has also been analysed and confirmed elsewhere (Pritchard, 2019), and is expected to continue during the rest of the twentyfirst century (Ultee et al., 2022).

Glacier melt has already accelerated over past decades due to climate change (Hugonnet et al., 2021), and will further increase before eventually decreasing (Kraaijenbrink et al., 2017). Maybe most important in the shorter term for water users downstream is the projected seasonal shift in meltwater flows to earlier in the spring (Lutz et al., 2016). Only a few studies have quantitatively assessed the complex interactions between seasonal dynamics in meltwater flows and agricultural water demand. Qin et al. (2020) performed a global analysis in which they focused on snowmelt use for irrigation under climate change. Because the HKH stores the world's largest volumes of ice and snow outside of the poles, and also has a very intensive agricultural system, unsurprisingly most of the global hotspots of snow-dependent agriculture are found to be the river basins originating in the HKH. A 4°C warming scenario for the Indus and Amu Darva river basins will result in a decrease of 10-15 percentage points in the share of irrigation demand that can be met by snowmelt, which will have to be met by other sources of water (Qin et al., 2020).

A recent study describing a similar analysis focusing on the Indus, Ganges, and Brahmaputra basins presented a slightly different picture, with a lower decrease in meltwater's contribution to irrigation (Lutz et al., 2022). The study combined both snowmelt and glacier melt - the latter releasing water slower than snow - and also incorporated the expected increase in irrigated area due to socio-economic developments. It concluded that the dependence of irrigated agriculture on both glacier melt and snowmelt and groundwater will gradually increase. Due to earlier melting, the amount of meltwater available for irrigation during the beginning of the kharif season will increase. However, later in the season, meltwater availability will decrease. Combined with a higher variability in rainfall runoff, groundwater will be used to compensate for the lower surface water availability, potentially leading to further overdraft and depletion of aquifers.

Farmers rely on snowmelt and glacier melt runoff for irrigating land (Biemans et al., 2019). As mentioned earlier, meltwater supplies up to 83% of annual groundwater recharge in the Upper Indus River Basin, emphasising the importance of the cryosphere in sustaining groundwater resources in the basin (Lone et al., 2021). Meltwater-derived recharge is split evenly between glacier meltwater (44% of annual recharge) and snowmelt (39%); in contrast, rainfall contributes only 17% of annual recharge. Snowmelt is also an important source of soil moisture, which is critical for crop growth and therefore the food security of mountain communities. River and spring water is also used for agriculture (Hill, 2017; Nüsser, Dame, Parveen et al., 2019).

In the Indus Basin, snowmelt and glacier melt account for up to 60% of total withdrawal for irrigation during the pre-monsoon season and contribute an additional 11% to total crop production. Although there is less reliance on meltwater in the Ganges floodplain, it is still required during the dry season for crops such as sugarcane. In the Brahmaputra Basin, the reliance on meltwater is negligible. Snowmelt and glacier melt supply enough water to cultivate sufficient food crops to provide 38 million people a nutritious diet (Biemans et al., 2019).

Irrigation systems differ based on biophysical, social, and governance factors such as the extent of irrigated area, water allocation and rules and regulations about distribution, topography, glacier size, water availability, and other factors (Wagle et al., 2021). In Ladakh, India, irrigation is entirely dependent on meltwater from glaciers and snowfields. Highland communities construct artificial glaciers to access water for irrigation and other needs during the dry months (Figure 3.8; Nüsser, Dame, Kraus, et al. [2019]). In Afghanistan, rural communities harvest snow and run-off in kandas (Figure 3.8), underground water tanks that are carved out in limestone catchments, particularly in the rangelands for herders and livestock, as well as in water-scarce villages for drinking. In the upper basins of the HKH, cryospheric disasters such as flash floods, landslides, riverbank erosion, GLOFs, sedimentation, and periodic avalanches, warming-induced melt, as well as turbulent/variable flows, low temperatures, depletion of springs, and water shortages are common threats to agricultural systems (Clouse et al., 2017; Hill, 2017; Nüsser, Dame, Kraus, et al., 2019; Scott et al., 2019). Climate change is accelerating the melting process, and intensifying water shortages, with adverse impacts on snow- and glacier-fed irrigation systems (Figure 3.8). Many irrigation systems in the Upper Indus Basin have become inoperable as a result of glacier retreat, and irrigation canals are routinely destroyed by GLOFs, floods, river bank erosion, and sedimentation, necessitating a great deal of labour and time to restore them (Dhakal et al., 2021). As a result, many arable fields are lying barren.





Source: Nüsser, Dame, Kraus, et al. (2019)

Poudel (2011) found that the hydrological consequences of declining snow and ice mass reduced access to water for irrigation, resulting in the abandonment of large swathes of agricultural fields in the villages of Upper Mustang and Upper Manang, Nepal. Over the course of eight decades, 39.5% of the total cultivated land in Upper Mustang has been abandoned. About 35% of the cultivated land in Ghiling hamlet in Upper Mustang has been abandoned owing to a dwindling supply of water for irrigation. Other manifestations of reduced water availability, according to this study, were the drying up of springs and a decrease in soil moisture in fields. The farmers in Upper Mustang used to irrigate their fields twice a year and those in Upper Manang three times a year but now they need to water their fields about 4–6 times a year. The declining water availability in irrigation sources on the one hand and an increased requirement for irrigation on the other cause water scarcity and land abandonment. This has also led to increased conflicts over irrigation water in the villages. Also in Nepal, Langtang experiences heavy snowfall, avalanches, and landslides because of changing snowfall and rainfall patterns, and temperature increases, resulting in fodder and water shortages for livestock and increased animal mortality (Tuladhar et al., 2021).

The majority of the towns in the HKH's high mountains and mid-hills rely on spring water for household and agricultural uses. There are only a few publications that discuss the interconnections between springs and changes in the cryosphere. Kulkarni et al. (2021) reported that as springs in the Baspa and Spiti basins in India have largely dried due to decreased snowfall, many farmers have started drawing water from high-elevation meltwater streams using pipes, and from the Baspa River for irrigation. Due to the depletion of springs, farmers in the Spiti Basin have created temporary water storage and diversion structures out of stones.

3.4.2. Cascading impacts and upstream-downstream linkages

Changes in the cryosphere and subsequent hydrological processes are having biophysical, socioeconomic, and cultural impacts in the HKH.

Mountains face cascading hazards, the cascading sequence being a chain of events triggered by multiple hazards upstream to downstream under the influence of topography and gravity. In 2021, a major cascading event occurred in Melamchi Municipality, Nepal, owing to multiple factors and processes occurring at various locations along the Melachmi River (Maharjan et al., 2021). The study cited found rapid snowmelt due to unusual warming, along with heavy precipitation in the river's headwaters. This resulted in the erosion of glacial deposits and a large deposition of moraine in the valleys downstream. Incessant rain led to the sudden mobilisation of moraine material, triggering flash floods that lasted for 3-4 days. This multi-hazard event turned into a cascading disaster in which the cumulative impacts were much larger than the sum of the individual hazards. As many as 337 houses were damaged, 525 families displaced, 13 suspension bridges washed away, and over 1.75 km² of irrigated land damaged. Due to this disaster, the opening of the Melamchi water supply scheme to Kathmandu has been indefinitely delayed.

Similarly, the Chamoli disaster – triggered by a large rock-ice avalanche that caused a huge debris flow - in Uttarakhand, India, in 2021 had immediate effects on hydropower and other infrastructure, and led to a significant loss of life (Shugar et al., 2021). Meena et al. (2021) investigated the water quality along the course of the Ganges River and its tributaries after the event. They chose four locations to study the changes in the water quality associated with the Chamoli disaster and the inadvertent effects of greater sediment load in the river channels. They strategically chose locations near the disasteraffected dam in the upper reaches and sandbar areas on the floodplain in the lower reaches to study the abrupt changes associated with the large increase in the volume of water flows (due to flooding) and the greater turbidity and chlorophyll concentrations in the rivers. Changes were observed in water flows from the source (Tapovan) until the downstream location of Bijnor. The visual comparison between before and after the event showed a qualitative increase in the sediment concentrations in the rivers after the event. Eight days after the event, a main channel for water supply to Delhi recorded 80 times the permissible level of sediment in the water, indicative of the far-reaching consequences such disasters can have. They attributed these changes to the increase in the water level after the Chamoli disaster, associated with the large volume of debris in the river.

3.5. Key knowledge gaps and potential pathways forward

Despite advances in understanding regarding the effects of cryospheric change in the HKH on water resources, especially within the last decade, critical gaps remain. This section summarises some of those key gaps and suggests some potential pathways forward.

3.5.1. Knowledge gaps

Knowledge gaps regarding cryospheric change in the HKH can be broadly categorised into process gaps and monitoring gaps. Process gaps are when little is known about certain fundamental hydrological processes in the cryosphere, even though they may dramatically affect water resource availability downstream or have indirect impacts through related processes, such as hazard risks. The concept 'process gap' could also be extended to hydrological modelling efforts intended to describe cryospheric hydrology: though physical processes may be understood, research efforts may not have translated this understanding into studies, models, or analyses.

Monitoring gaps may exist in situations in which hydrological processes are understood, but physical constraints or insufficient resources for research have hindered primary data collection and subsequent hydrological characterisation of cryospheric components and their changes over time, or the calibration and validation of models. Furthermore, inadequate longevity of research support may produce lapses in the long-term data streams required to capture inter-annual variability and climatic trends.

These two types of knowledge gaps are not fully distinct: some process understanding is required to design effective monitoring approaches, and alternately, efforts to fill monitoring gaps may, in some situations, elucidate further process gaps. Nonetheless, the distinctions are maintained here as the approaches used to fill these gaps may differ considerably in content and duration. These process and monitoring gaps can be grouped into five domains, described below.

GAPS REGARDING THE CONTRIBUTION OF KEY CRYOSPHERIC COMPONENTS TO HIGH MOUNTAIN HYDROLOGY

Prior sections in this chapter have described the critical importance of the cryosphere in the HKH in supplying water across multiple water uses for billions of people downstream, as well as in driving upstream and downstream hazards. Yet, critical gaps remain in our understanding of the role of glaciers, snow, and permafrost in the hydrological cycle in high mountain areas of the HKH.

Reviews, primarily over the last decade, have identified a series of these knowledge gaps (Immerzeel et al., 2010; Turner & Annamalai, 2012; Wester et al., 2019). Critical process gaps include permafrost dynamics: there is little knowledge concerning the contribution of permafrost to the hydrology of the HKH river systems, and to mountain hydrology in general. Furthermore, monsoon dynamics have been poorly understood, and recent monsoon studies (Azmat et al., 2020) lack explicit linkages to cryospheric hydrology.

Monitoring gaps in high mountain areas of the HKH have been especially prevalent, due to the physical difficulties in collecting data in a harsh climate and inaccessible terrain. These gaps have been reflected in all the three major cryospheric components, though not to similar degrees. Glacier dynamics have been perhaps better understood (Nie et al., 2021; Srivastava & Azam, 2022) than snow or permafrost, but a scarcity of observations on glacier mass balance have persisted, and the limits of increases in glacier meltwater and its timing, that is, 'peak water', remain unknown in the HKH. The relative contributions of ice and snow to streamflows have not been well understood, exacerbated by a general lack of snow data in the region. Wester et al. (2019) have described lacking streamflow data, important not only for estimating water supplies for downstream regions but also as a response signal for cryospheric and sub-surface dynamics upstream, as a key gap. Some specific streamflow data gaps have included (i) inadequate times series (in quality and duration) of river discharge for discharge trend analysis, (ii) discharge rating curves for high mountain areas that are generally unavailable or undocumented (and therefore of questionable quality), resulting in (iii) overall difficulty in characterising streamflow trends.

The non-representative nature and poor quality of data originating from a scarcity in sites that monitor precipitation, discussed in further detail below, continue to hinder hydrological characterisation across the region.

Some recent advances have begun to fill some of these process and monitoring gaps (Khanal et al., 2021; Nie et al., 2021; Srivastava & Azam, 2022; Wani et al., 2020). However, perhaps with the exception of peak water analyses (Hock et al., 2019; Huss & Hock, 2018; Nie et al., 2021), little progress in substantially filling these gaps is evident.

Furthermore, some process gaps not emphasised by previous reviews need to be highlighted:

- Recent hydrological modelling analyses (for example, Huss & Hock, 2018) have been regional or global in scope and have not emphasised robust testing and validation. Such macro-scale analysis can overlook key differences and processes that become evident at more granular scales.
- There is a growing recognition of the importance of springs and mountain groundwater, but little is known about mountain subsurface water flows and storage, and linkages between the cryosphere and subsurface flows have only been minimally studied. Aside from the generic treatment of the subject by Somers and McKenzie (2020), only one recent study (Illien et al., 2021) has addressed subsurface flows at higher elevations in the HKH, and this study did not extend to the cryosphere.
- Evaporation and sublimation processes, particularly over snow, are poorly understood. Though analyses of evaporation and sublimation from the cryosphere did not receive much research attention previously, several recent studies have begun to fill this gap (Guo et al., 2021; Mandal et al., 2022; Stigter et al., 2018), though it is important to note that these studies directly examine sublimation only over ice surfaces.
- The linkages between cryospheric change and sediment transport in the HKH river systems are important to understand because of their

potential for significant downstream impacts, but they are not well understood.

- The effects of cryospheric changes in the HKH on downstream water quality have not been studied. These changes are important to understand not only for human health, but also for ecosystem health.
- More widely, linkages between cryospheric change and high-elevation ecosystem change, for example, shifts in tree lines, are not well understood. For instance, thus far, only one study has focused on evapotranspiration a key hydrological process linked to ecosystems in high-elevation vegetation (L. Wang et al., 2020).

GAPS IN PROJECTIONS OF HIGH-ELEVATION MOUNTAIN HYDROLOGY UNDER A CHANGING CLIMATE

Some recent studies (for example, Khanal et al., 2021; Lutz et al., 2014) have attempted to move beyond the analysis of historic mountain hydrology to hydrologic projections under climate change over the coming decades. However, these studies are only preliminary forays into a critically important research domain, and significant process gaps regarding future HKH hydrology still exist. For instance, no known studies have considered the hydrological dynamics of high-elevation land surfaces that have until now been permanently covered by ice, snow, and permafrost, but which will likely lose that cover within the next several decades. In addition to land surface considerations, predicted shifts of the snowline, snow-to-rain transitions, and rain-on-snow phenomena have not been studied in the HKH.

GAPS IN THE CONSIDERATION OF GEOGRAPHIC AND INTER-BASIN VARIABILITY

The geographic trend of increasing meltwater proportions in basin discharges from east to west across the HKH region is well known. However, this longitudinal trend masks strong elevational and climatic gradients and hydrological changes over relatively short distances in the high elevations, and high inter-basin variability of ice and snow (Wester et al., 2019). Monitoring efforts have been too spatially and temporally scattered to properly capture this variability, particularly in the distribution of precipitation (a monitoring gap). Furthermore, inter-catchment comparisons, needed to discern similarities in hydrological processes and differences between catchments and across elevational and precipitation gradients, are lacking, as is distributed forcing of precipitation in modelling analysis (process gaps).

GAPS IN KNOWLEDGE REGARDING THE EFFECTS OF CRYOSPHERIC CHANGE ON INTER-RELATED AND CASCADING DISASTER RISKS

Water-related disasters are growing in frequency and severity in the HKH, as climate change signals become increasingly apparent. However, little is known about how cryospheric shifts will induce secondary changes in mountain and downstream hazards, cascading hazards, and compound risks. This is true not only for 'acute' hazards, but also for 'slow' hazards such as droughts. Changing melt patterns, precipitation extremes, shifts in snowrain interactions, and changes in permafrost are anticipated to encourage slope destabilisation, landslides, and sediment mobilisation, but these processes are poorly understood and therefore represent key process gaps.

GAPS IN KNOWLEDGE REGARDING THE CUMULATIVE IMPACTS OF CRYOSPHERIC CHANGE ON WATER USE SYSTEMS

Lowland populations downstream of the HKH are increasingly dependent on water supplies from the cryosphere, especially those areas situated downstream of the western HKH. Shifting cryospheric water supplies will shape downstream water demands, water uses, livelihoods, and infrastructure, though the linkages between upstream supplies and downstream uses are not well understood in the region. The impacts on urban water uses are especially poorly addressed. Though not cryospheric process gaps per se, these linkages are essentially 'feedback loops' between upstream supplies and downstream demands, and represent broader human–environment process gaps.

3.5.2. Responses and suggested strategies

The discussion above has outlined both process gaps and monitoring gaps across five domains. Advancements over the last two decades have both identified and incrementally filled some of the process gaps, while others have remained unaddressed. Ongoing efforts to fill these process gaps should continue in parallel with efforts directed at filling monitoring gaps, which are arguably the most limiting. Enhanced monitoring and subsequent data streams, accompanied by rigorous data quality assurance measures and metadata, are needed to better characterise how the cryosphere in the HKH has changed over time, and to project how changes will unfold in the future. They are also needed to calibrate and validate hydrological modelling and spatiotemporal extrapolation, and to support efforts to predict changes in mountain risks and hazards. Comprehensive, efficient, and cost-effective strategies are needed to fill the remaining gaps. Some suggested strategies are offered below.

Strategy 1

Establish a network of sentinel high-elevation collaborative research watersheds. The selected research watersheds ideally would (i) contain nonnegligible glacier, snow, and permafrost areas, (ii) be carefully selected to ensure distribution across the geographic extent of the high-elevation HKH and to capture climatic and elevational gradients, and (iii) be explicitly linked to downstream water demands, water uses, and known hazard risks.

In situ monitoring within these sites would

- Characterise and monitor upslope cryospheric components, including snow water equivalent.
- Measure streamflow at the outlet.
- Include meteorological monitoring.
- Test and deploy novel techniques such as hydrochemistry, isotope analysis, and cosmic ray neutron sensor technology.
- Include citizen science primary data collection as an additional data stream.

- Emphasise long-term monitoring, as decadal time-series are necessary.
- Be explicitly linked to downstream water demands and uses that are of critical interest.

The selection of research watersheds could build on, and add value to some existing monitoring sites (Figure 3.9). Monitoring sites – defined as locations where more than one variable is monitored at more than a single coordinate for at least one year and the data is either openly accessible or has been published in peer-reviewed literature - exist in three countries so far. In India, observations focus specifically on permafrost in Ladakh (Wani et al., 2021) and glaciers in the western Himalava at Dokriani and Chhota Shigri (Srivastava & Azam, 2022). In Nepal, the Langtang catchment covers many aspects of the water balance (Steiner et al., 2021), while field sites on Trambau Glacier, the Khumbu Glacier, and in the Hidden Valley focus mainly on glaciological observations. In China, the Tanggula and the Tuotuo He research sites have provided the basis for many studies so far and the Mahan (Wu et al., 2022) and Hulu catchments (Han et al., 2018) have also been documented more recently.

Keeping downstream water demands, water uses, and known hazard risks in view when establishing the sentinel monitoring sites would enable subsequent study of the impacts of upstream cryospheric changes on populations and ecosystems downstream.

Strategy 2

Build on previous research efforts, and couple the monitoring network (Strategy 1) with remote sensing and hydrological modelling to enable the extrapolation of current, historical, and projected changes to the cryosphere across the HKH, and the impact of those changes on downstream water resources.

Some key elements of this strategy would be to (i) encourage application of studies that link hydrology to other domains, such as ecosystems and livelihoods, (ii) include mountain subsurface flows as well as surface water flows, (iii) enable cross-catchment comparisons, (iv) encourage linkages between micro-, meso-, and macro-scale analyses, and (v) carefully consider the underlying assumptions in climate projections and use ensemble approaches when appropriate.

The estimation of impacts on downstream water supply and demand must account for shifts in population and infrastructure, and thus, projections of how these will change in the future must be formulated in parallel with projections of cryospheric and hydrospheric change. These projections may additionally inform the design of the monitoring network and provide context for biophysical analysis. Some key issues to address in these projections would include: Where are urban areas projected to grow? What areas of the HKH are projected to depopulate? How will agriculture and land use shift under a changing climate?

Strategy 3

Develop institutional and political mechanisms to ensure long-term and stable support for these activities, as well as data access.

Cryosphere monitoring efforts are of little benefit if those efforts do not produce the long-term data streams required to identify trends and to calibrate and validate models. Effective efforts furthermore depend upon long-term research support, and upon stable institutional and political commitments that enable it. Without these commitments, cryosphere monitoring will continue to be subject to uncertain and short-term project financing, and therefore likely to be intermittent and disjointed. It is crucial, therefore, that institutional and political mechanisms are developed in parallel with 'technical' aspects to ensure their longevity. Those institutional mechanisms will need to be transboundary in nature, as they will assuredly need to cross political boundaries at the district, provincial, and likely national levels.

Strategy 4

Establish frameworks that allow for the inclusion of local and Indigenous knowledge in decision-making processes and adaptation strategies.



Notes: Monitoring sites that have been operational for at least 1 year and observe more than one variable are shown. ALL denotes set-ups that include climatic, glaciological, snowfall, and permafrost observations, HYD refers to sites that focus on hydrology (including sediments), GLAC to sites that focus on glaciers (for example, mass balance or on-glacier meteorology), and PF to sites focusing on soil/ground measurements. GHCNd (Global Historical Climatology Network daily) stations are government-run stations (Thornton et al., 2022). GSOD (Global Surface Summary of the Day; see https://www.ncei.noaa.gov/access/metadata/landing-page/bin/iso?id=gov.noaa.ncdc:C00516) is a data set curated by the USAF Climatology Center. The bold black marks the HKH outline, permafrost extent is shown in blue (Obu, 2021), and glacier outlines are shown in white.

The value of local and Indigenous knowledge in mountain areas has been emphasised in recent literature on mountains in general (Adler et al., 2022) and in the region in specific studies on hazards (Emmer et al., 2022), upstream–downstream linkages (Bastakoti et al., 2017), and livelihoods (Tuladhar et al., 2021). However, there is still a vast body of untapped knowledge, especially in relation to the cryosphere and its role in water supply as well as an immediate hazard, that remains unexplored. Future scientific studies should pay more attention to explore this in their respective fields as part of a review of existing knowledge on the topic. This would not only allow for a more comprehensive understanding of present challenges in mountain areas but in turn also allow for a better dissemination of new emerging knowledge in the process of exchange between scientists and mountain communities in the HKH.

Although knowledge gaps will remain, it is vital to act now based on the knowledge we already have about the present state of the HKH and how key hydrological variables might change in the future. It is critical that strategies for the mitigation of, and adaptation to climate change are based on current understanding. New data and knowledge can then continue to inform decision-making processes as understanding deepens.

References

- Adhikari, P., & Mejia, J. F. (2021). Influence of aerosols on clouds, precipitation and freezing level height over the foothills of the Himalayas during the Indian summer monsoon. *Climate Dynamics*, *57*(1), 395–413. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-021-05710-2
- Adler, C., Wester, P., Bhatt, I., Huggel, C., Insarov, G. E., Morecroft, M. D., Muccione, V., & Prakash, A.
 (2022). Cross-Chapter Paper 5: Mountains. In H.-O. Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E. S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegria, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, & B. Rama (Eds.), *Climate change 2022: Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability (pp. 2273–2318)*. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press. https://doi. org/10.1017/9781009325844.022
- Azam, M. F., Kargel, J. S., Shea, J. M., Nepal, S., Haritashya,
 U. K., Srivastava, S., Maussion, F., Qazi, N.,
 Chevallier, P., Dimri, A. P., Kulkarni, A. V., Cogley, J.
 G., & Bahuguna, I. M. (2021). Glaciohydrology of the
 Himalaya-Karakoram. *Science*, 373(6557). https://doi.
 org/10.1126/science.abf3668
- Azam, M. F., Wagnon, P., Berthier, E., Vincent, C., Fujita, K., & Kargel, J. S. (2018). Review of the status and mass changes of Himalayan-Karakoram glaciers. *Journal of Glaciology*, 64(243), 61–74. https://doi.org/10.1017/ jog.2017.86
- Azmat, M., Wahab, A., Huggel, C., Qamar, M. U., Hussain, E., Ahmad, S., & Waheed, A. (2020). Climatic and

hydrological projections to changing climate under CORDEX-South Asia experiments over the Karakoram-Hindukush-Himalayan water towers. *Science of The Total Environment*, *703*, Article 135010. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.135010

- Ballesteros-Cánovas, J. A., Trappmann, D., Madrigal-González, J., Eckert, N., & Stoffel, M. (2018). Climate warming enhances snow avalanche risk in the Western Himalayas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *115*(13), 3410–3415. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1716913115
- Bartelt, P., Buser, O., Valero, C. V., & Bühler, Y. (2016). Configurational energy and the formation of mixed flowing/powder snow and ice avalanches. *Annals of Glaciology*, *57*(71), 179–188. https://doi. org/10.3189/2016AoG71A464
- Bastakoti, R. C., Bharati, L., Bhattarai, U., & Wahid, S. M. (2017). Agriculture under changing climate conditions and adaptation options in the Koshi Basin. *Climate and Development*, *9*(7), 634–648. https://doi.org/10.10 80/17565529.2016.1223594
- Berthier, E., & Brun, F. (2019). Karakoram geodetic glacier mass balances between 2008 and 2016: Persistence of the anomaly and influence of a large rock avalanche on Siachen Glacier. *Journal of Glaciology*, 65(251), 494–507. https://doi.org/10.1017/jog.2019.32
- Bhambri, R., Watson, C. S., Hewitt, K., Haritashya, U. K.,
 Kargel, J. S., Pratap Shahi, A., Chand, P., Kumar, A.,
 Verma, A., & Govil, H. (2020). The hazardous 2017–
 2019 surge and river damming by Shispare Glacier,

Karakoram. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 1–14. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41598-020-61277-8

- Biemans, H., Siderius, C., Lutz, A. F., Nepal, S., Ahmad, B., Hassan, T., von Bloh, W., Wijngaard, R. R., Wester, P., Shrestha, A. B., & Immerzeel, W. W. (2019). Importance of snow and glacier meltwater for agriculture on the Indo-Gangetic Plain. *Nature Sustainability*, 2(7), 594–601. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0305-3
- Biemans, H., Siderius, C., Mishra, A., & Ahmad, B. (2016).
 Crop-specific seasonal estimates of irrigation-water demand in South Asia. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, *20*(5), 1971–1982. https://doi.org/10.5194/ hess-20-1971-2016
- Bolch, T., Kulkarni, A., Kaab, A., Huggel, C., Paul, F., Cogley,
 J. G., Frey, H., Kargel, J. S., Fujita, K., Scheel, M.,
 Bajracharya, S., & Stoffel, M. (2012). The state and fate of Himalayan glaciers. *Science*, *336*(6079), 310–314. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1215828
- Bolch, T., Shea, J. M., Liu, S., Azam, F. M., Gao, Y., Gruber,
 S., Immerzeel, W. W., Kulkarni, A., Li, H., Tahir, A. A.,
 Zhang, G., & Zhang, Y. (2019). Status and change of
 the cryosphere in the extended Hindu Kush Himalaya
 region. In P. Wester, A. Mishra, A. Mukherji, & A. Bhakta
 Shrestha (Eds.), *The Hindu Kush Himalaya assessment: Mountains, climate change, sustainability and people*(pp. 209–255). Springer Nature Switzerland AG.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92288-1_7
- Bookhagen, B., & Burbank, D. W. (2006). Topography, relief, and TRMM-derived rainfall variations along the Himalaya. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *33*(8). https://doi.org/10.1029/2006GL026037
- Byers, A. C., Rounce, D. R., Shugar, D. H., Lala, J. M., Byers, E. A., & Regmi, D. (2019). A rockfall-induced glacial lake outburst flood, Upper Barun Valley, Nepal. *Landslides*, *16*(3), 533–549. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10346-018-1079-9
- Chang, Y., Wang, J., Qin, D., Ding, Y., Zhao, Q., Liu, F., & Zhang, S. (2017). Methodological comparison of alpine meadow evapotranspiration on the Tibetan Plateau, China. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(12). https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0189059
- Chen, C., Zhang, L., Xiao, T., & He, J. (2020). Barrier lake bursting and flood routing in the Yarlung Tsangpo Grand Canyon in October 2018. *Journal of Hydrology*, 583, Article 124603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhydrol.2020.124603
- Clouse, C., Anderson, N., & Shippling, T. (2017). Ladakh's artificial glaciers: Climate-adaptive design for water scarcity. *Climate and Development*, *9*(5), 428–438. https://doi.org/10.1080/17565529.2016.1167664

- Collins, M., Sutherland, M., Bouwer, L., Cheong, S.-M.,
 Frölicher, T., Combes, H. J. D., Roxy, M. K., Losada,
 I., McInnes, K., Ratter, B., Rivera-Arriaga, E.,
 Susanto, R. D., Swingedouw, D., & Tibig, L. (2019).
 Extremes, abrupt changes and managing risk. In
 H.-O. Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, V. Masson-Delmotte, P.
 Zhai, M. Tignor, E. S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A.
 Alegría, M. Nicolai, A. Okem, J. Petzold, B. Rama, &
 N. M. Weyer (Eds.), *IPCC special report on the ocean* and cryosphere in a changing climate (1st ed., pp. 589–655). Cambridge University Press. https://doi. org/10.1017/9781009157964
- Cook, K. L., Andermann, C., Gimbert, F., Adhikari, B. R., & Hovius, N. (2018). Glacial lake outburst floods as drivers of fluvial erosion in the Himalaya. *Science*, *362*(6410), 53–57. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. aat4981
- Dahlquist, M. P., & West, A. J. (2019). Initiation and runout of post-seismic debris flows: Insights from the 2015 Gorkha earthquake. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *46*(16), 9658–9668. https://doi. org/10.1029/2019GL083548
- Devanand, A., Huang, M., Ashfaq, M., Barik, B., & Ghosh, S. (2019). Choice of irrigation water management practice affects Indian summer monsoon rainfall and its extremes. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 46(15), 9126–9135. https://doi.org/10.1029/2019GL083875
- Dhakal, M. P., Ali, A., Khan, M. Z., Wagle, N., Shah, G. M.,
 Maqsood, M. M., & Ali, A. (2021). Agricultural water
 management challenges in the Hunza River Basin:
 Is a solar water pump an alternative option?*.
 Irrigation and Drainage, 70(4), 644–658. https://doi.
 org/10.1002/ird.2563
- Dileepkumar, R., AchutaRao, K. M., & Arulalan, T. (2018). Human influence on sub-regional surface air temperature change over India. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), Article 8967. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-27185-8
- Doblas-Reyes, F. J., Sörensson, A. A., Almazroui, M., Dosio,
 A., Gutowski, W. J., Haarsma, R. J., Hamdi, R.,
 Hewitson, B., Kwon, W.-T., Lamptey, B. L., Maraun, D.,
 Stephenson, T. S., Takayabu, I., Terray, L., Turner, A.,
 & Zuo, Z. (2021). Linking global to regional climate
 change. In V. Masson-Delmotte, P. M. Zhai, A. Pirani,
 S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L.
 Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy,
 J. B. R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O.
 Yelekçi, R. Yu, & B. Zhou (Eds.), *Climate change*2021: The physical science basis. Contribution of
 working group I to the sixth assessment report of the
 Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (pp. 1363–1512). Cambridge University Press.

Emmer, A., Allen, S. K., Carey, M., Frey, H., Huggel, C.,
Korup, O., Mergili, M., Sattar, A., Veh, G., Chen, T.
Y., Cook, S. J., Correas-Gonzalez, M., Das, S., Diaz
Moreno, A., Drenkhan, F., Fischer, M., Immerzeel,
W. W., Izagirre, E., Joshi, R. C., ... Yde, J. C. (2022).
Progress and challenges in glacial lake outburst
flood research (2017–2021): A research community
perspective. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, *22*(9), 3041–3061. https://doi.org/10.5194/
nhess-22-3041-2022

Engelhardt, M., Ramanathan, A., Eidhammer, T., Kumar, P., Landgren, O., Mandal, A., & Rasmussen, R. (2017). Modelling 60 years of glacier mass balance and runoff for Chhota Shigri Glacier, Western Himalaya, Northern India. *Journal of Glaciology*, *63*(240), 618–628. https://doi.org/10.1017/jog.2017.29

Eyring, V., Gillett, N. P., AchutaRao, K. M., Barimalala, R., Barreiro Parrillo, M., Bellouin, N., Cassou, C., Durack, P. J., Kosaka, Y., McGregor, S., Min, S., Morgenstern, O., & Sun, Y. (2021). Human influence on the climate system. In V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J. B. R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, & B. Zhou (Eds.), *Climate change 2021: The physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the sixth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (pp. 423–552). Cambridge University Press.

- Farinotti, D., Immerzeel, W. W., de Kok, R. J., Quincey, D. J., & Dehecq, A. (2020). Manifestations and mechanisms of the Karakoram glacier anomaly. *Nature Geoscience*, 13(1), 8–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-019-0513-5
- Flügel, W.-A., Nepal, S., & Shrestha, A. B. (2018). Framework for upstream–downstream linkages of land and water management in the Hindu Kush Himalaya (HKH) region. HI-AWARE Working Paper No. 15. ICIMOD. https://lib.icimod.org/record/33880
- Fowler, H. J., Lenderink, G., Prein, A. F., Westra, S., Allan,
 R. P., Ban, N., Barbero, R., Berg, P., Blenkinsop, S.,
 Do, H. X., Guerreiro, S., Haerter, J. O., Kendon, E. J.,
 Lewis, E., Schaer, C., Sharma, A., Villarini, G., Wasko,
 C., & Zhang, X. (2021). Anthropogenic intensification
 of short-duration rainfall extremes. *Nature Reviews Earth & Environment*, 2(2), 107–122. https://doi.
 org/10.1038/s43017-020-00128-6
- Fujita, K., Inoue, H., Izumi, T., Yamaguchi, S., Sadakane, A.,
 Sunako, S., Nishimura, K., Immerzeel, W. W., Shea, J.
 M., Kayastha, R. B., Sawagaki, T., Breashears, D. F.,
 Yagi, H., & Sakai, A. (2017). Anomalous winter-snow-

amplified earthquake-induced disaster of the 2015 Langtang avalanche in Nepal. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, 17(5), 749–764. https://doi. org/10.5194/nhess-17-749-2017

- Furian, W., Loibl, D., & Schneider, C. (2021). Future glacial lakes in High Mountain Asia: An inventory and assessment of hazard potential from surrounding slopes. *Journal of Glaciology*, *67*(264), 653–670. https://doi.org/10.1017/jog.2017.86
- Furian, W., Maussion, F., & Schneider, C. (2022). Projected 21st-century glacial lake evolution in High Mountain Asia. Frontiers in Earth Science, 10(March), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3389/feart.2022.821798
- Gruber, S., Fleiner, R., Guegan, E., Panday, P., Schmid, M.-O., Stumm, D., Wester, P., Zhang, Y., & Zhao, L. (2017).
 Review article: Inferring permafrost and permafrost thaw in the mountains of the Hindu Kush Himalaya region. *The Cryosphere*, *11*(1), 81–99. https://doi. org/10.5194/tc-11-81-2017
- Gruber, S., & Haeberli, W. (2007). Permafrost in steep bedrock slopes and its temperature-related destabilization following climate change. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface*, *112*(F2). https://doi. org/10.1029/2006JF000547
- Guo, S., Chen, R., Han, C., Liu, J., Wang, X., & Liu, G.
 (2021). Five-year analysis of evaposublimation characteristics and its role on surface energy balance SEB on a midlatitude continental glacier. *Earth and Space Science*, 8(12), e2021EA001901. https://doi. org/10.1029/2021EA001901
- Guo, S., Chen, R., & Li, H. (2022). Surface sublimation/ evaporation and condensation/deposition and their links to westerlies during 2020 on the August-One Glacier, the semi-arid Qilian Mountains of Northeast Tibetan Plateau. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 127(11), Article e2022JD036494. https://doi.org/10.1029/2022JD036494
- Haeberli, W., Schaub, Y., & Huggel, C. (2016). Increasing risks related to landslides from degrading permafrost into new lakes in de-glaciating mountain ranges (invited review paper). *Geomorphology*, *293*(B), 405–417. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2016.02.009
- Han, C., Chen, R., Liu, Z., Yang, Y., Liu, J., Song, Y., Wang,
 L., Liu, G., Guo, S., & Wang, X. (2018). Cryospheric hydrometeorology observation in the Hulu Catchment (CHOICE), Qilian Mountains, China. *Vadose Zone Journal*, *17*(1), Article 180058. https://doi.org/10.2136/vzj2018.03.0058

Harrison, S., Kargel, J. S., Huggel, C., Reynolds, J., Shugar,
D. H., Betts, R. A., Emmer, A., Glasser, N., Haritashya,
U. K., Klimeš, J., Reinhardt, L., Schaub, Y., Wiltshire,
A., Regmi, D., & Vilímek, V. (2018). Climate change
and the global pattern of moraine-dammed glacial
lake outburst floods. *Cryosphere*, *12*(4), 1195–1209.
https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-12-1195-2018

Herman, F., De Doncker, F., Delaney, I., Prasicek, G., & Koppes,
M. (2021). The impact of glaciers on mountain erosion. *Nature Reviews Earth & Environment*, 2(6). https://doi.org/10.1038/s43017-021-00165-9

Hill, J. K. W. (2017). Supporting farmer-managed irrigation systems in the Shigar valley, Karakorum: Role of the government and Aga Khan Rural Support Programme. *Journal of Mountain Science*, *14*(10), 2064–2081. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11629-017-4496-7

Hirabayashi, Y., Nakano, K., Zhang, Y., Watanabe, S., Tanoue,
M., & Kanae, S. (2016). Contributions of natural and anthropogenic radiative forcing to mass loss of northern hemisphere mountain glaciers and quantifying their uncertainties. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), Article 29723. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep29723

Hock, R., Rasul, G., Adler, C., Cáceres, B., Gruber, S.,
Hirabayashi, Y., Jackson, M., Kääb, A., Kang, S.,
Kutuzov, S., Milner, A., Molau, U., Morin, S., Orlove, B.,
& Steltzer, H. (2019). High mountain areas. In H.-O.
Pörtner, D. C. Roberts, V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai,
M. Tignor, E. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, M. Nicolai,
A. Okem, J. Petzold, B. Rama, & N. Weyer (Eds.), *IPCC special report on the ocean and cryosphere in a changing climate* (pp. 131–202). Cambridge University
Press.

Hugonnet, R., McNabb, R., Berthier, E., Menounos, B., Nuth,
C., Girod, L., Farinotti, D., Huss, M., Dussaillant, I.,
Brun, F., & Kääb, A. (2021). Accelerated global glacier
mass loss in the early twenty-first century. *Nature*,
592(7856), 726–731. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586021-03436-z

Huss, M., & Hock, R. (2018). Global-scale hydrological response to future glacier mass loss. *Nature Climate Change*, 8(2), 135–140. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41558-017-0049-x

Illien, L., Andermann, C., Sens-Schönfelder, C., Cook,
K. L., Baidya, K. P., Adhikari, L. B., & Hovius, N.
(2021). Subsurface moisture regulates Himalayan groundwater storage and discharge. *AGU Advances*, 2(2), Article e2021AV000398. https://doi. org/10.1029/2021AV000398 Immerzeel, W. W., Lutz, A. F., Andrade, M., Bahl, A., Biemans,
H., Bolch, T., Hyde, S., Brumby, S., Davies, B. J.,
Elmore, A. C., Emmer, A., Feng, M., Fernández,
A., Haritashya, U., Kargel, J. S., Koppes, M.,
Kraaijenbrink, P. D. A., Kulkarni, A. V., Mayewski, P. A.,
... Baillie, J. E. M. (2020). Importance and vulnerability
of the world's water towers. *Nature*, *577*(7790),
364–369. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1822-y

Immerzeel, W. W., Pellicciotti, F., & Bierkens, M. F. P. (2013). Rising river flows throughout the twenty-first century in two Himalayan glacierized watersheds. *Nature Geoscience*, 6(9), 742–745. https://doi.org/10.1038/ ngeo1896

Immerzeel, W. W., van Beek, L. P. H., & Bierkens, M. F. P. (2010). Climate change will affect the Asian water towers. *Science*, 328(5984), 1382–1385. https://doi. org/10.1126/science.1183188

Jeelani, G., Shah, R. A., Deshpande, R. D., Fryar, A. E., Perrin, J., & Mukherjee, A. (2017). Distinguishing and estimating recharge to karst springs in snow and glacier dominated mountainous basins of the western Himalaya, India. *Journal of Hydrology*, *550*, 239–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhydrol.2017.05.001

Jóhannesson, T., Raymond, C., & Waddington, E. (1989). Time-scale for adjustment of glaciers to changes in mass balance. *Journal of Glaciology*, *35*(121), 355– 369. https://doi.org/10.3189/S002214300000928X

Kääb, A., Jacquemart, M., Gilbert, A., Leinss, S., Girod, L.,
Huggel, C., Falaschi, D., Ugalde, F., Petrakov, D.,
Chernomorets, S., Dokukin, M., Paul, F., Gascoin, S.,
Berthier, E., & Kargel, J. (2021). Sudden large-volume detachments of low-angle mountain glaciers: More frequent than thought. *The Cryosphere*, *15*, 1751–1785. https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-15-1751-2021

Kääb, A., Leinss, S., Gilbert, A., Bühler, Y., Gascoin, S., Evans,
S. G., Bartelt, P., Berthier, E., Brun, F., Chao, W.-A.,
Farinotti, D., Gimbert, F., Guo, W., Huggel, C., Kargel,
J. S., Leonard, G. J., Tian, L., Treichler, D., & Yao, T.
(2018). Massive collapse of two glaciers in western
Tibet in 2016 after surge-like instability. *Nature Geoscience*, *11*(2), 114–120. https://doi.org/10.1038/
s41561-017-0039-7

Kargel, J. S., Leonard, G. J., Shugar, D. H., Haritashya, U. K., Bevington, A., Fielding, E. J., Fujita, K., Geertsema, M., Miles, E. S., Steiner, J., Anderson, E., Bajracharya, S., Bawden, G. W., Breashears, D. F., Byers, A., Collins, B., Dhital, M. R., Donnellan, A., Evans, T. L., ... Young, N. (2016). Geomorphic and geologic controls of geohazards induced by Nepal's 2015 Gorkha earthquake. *Science*, *351*(6269). https://doi. org/10.1126/science.aac8353

- Kayastha, R. B., Steiner, N., Kayastha, R., Mishra, S. K., & McDonald, K. (2020). Comparative study of hydrology and icemelt in three Nepal river basins using the Glacio-Hydrological Degree-Day Model (GDM) and observations from the Advanced Scatterometer (ASCAT). *Frontiers in Earth Science*, 7. https://www. frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/feart.2019.00354
- Khanal, S., Lutz, A. F., Kraaijenbrink, P. D. A., van den Hurk, B., Yao, T., & Immerzeel, W. W. (2021).
 Variable 21st century climate change response for rivers in High Mountain Asia at seasonal to decadal time scales. *Water Resources Research*, 57(5), Article e2020WR029266. https://doi. org/10.1029/2020WR029266
- Kim, J.-B., & Bae, D.-H. (2020). Intensification characteristics of hydroclimatic extremes in the Asian monsoon region under 1.5 and 2.0°C of global warming. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, 24(12), 5799– 5820. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-24-5799-2020
- Kincey, M. E., Rosser, N. J., Robinson, T. R., Densmore, A. L., Shrestha, R., Pujara, D. S., Oven, K. J., Williams, J. G., & Swirad, Z. M. (2021). Evolution of coseismic and post-seismic landsliding after the 2015 Mw 7.8 Gorkha earthquake, Nepal. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface*, *126*(3), Article e2020JF005803. https://doi.org/10.1029/2020JF005803
- Kirschbaum, D., Watson, C. S., Rounce, D. R., Shugar, D. H., Kargel, J. S., Haritashya, U. K., Amatya, P., Shean, D., Anderson, E. R., & Jo, M. (2019). The state of remote sensing capabilities of cascading hazards over High Mountain Asia. *Frontiers in Earth Science*, *7*. https://doi.org/10.3389/feart.2019.00197
- Kraaijenbrink, P. D. A., Bierkens, M. F. P., Lutz, A. F., & Immerzeel, W. W. (2017). Impact of a global temperature rise of 1.5 degrees celsius on Asia's glaciers. *Nature*, *549*(7671), 257–260. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature23878
- Kraaijenbrink, P. D. A., Stigter, E. E., Yao, T., & Immerzeel, W.
 W. (2021). Climate change decisive for Asia's snow meltwater supply. *Nature Climate Change*, *11*(7), 591–597. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-021-01074-x
- Krishnan, R., Shrestha, A. B., Ren, G., Rajbhandari, R., Saeed,
 S., Sanjay, J., Syed, Md. A., Vellore, R., Xu, Y., You,
 Q., & Ren, Y. (2019). Unravelling climate change in
 the Hindu Kush Himalaya: Rapid warming in the
 mountains and increasing extremes. In P. Wester,
 A. Mishra, A. Mukherji, & A. B. Shrestha (Eds.), *The Hindu Kush Himalaya assessment: Mountains, climate change, sustainability and people* (pp. 57–97).
 Springer Nature Switzerland AG.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92288-1_3

- Kropáček, J., Vilímek, V., & Mehrishi, P. (2021). A preliminary assessment of the Chamoli rock and ice avalanche in the Indian Himalayas by remote sensing. *Landslides*, *18*(10), 3489–3497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10346-021-01742-1
- Kulkarni, A. V., Shirsat, T. S., Kulkarni, A., Negi, H. S., Bahuguna, I. M., & Thamban, M. (2021). State of Himalayan cryosphere and implications for water security. *Water Security*, 14, Article 100101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasec.2021.100101
- Lane, S. N., Bakker, M., Gabbud, C., Micheletti, N., & Saugy, J.-N. (2017). Sediment export, transient landscape response and catchment-scale connectivity following rapid climate warming and Alpine glacier recession. *Geomorphology*, 277, 210–227. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2016.02.015
- Leinss, S., Bernardini, E., Jacquemart, M., & Dokukin, M. (2021). Glacier detachments and rock-ice avalanches in the Petra Pervogo range, Tajikistan (1973–2019). *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, *21*(5), 1409–1429. https://doi.org/10.5194/ nhess-21-1409-2021
- Li, D., Li, Z., Zhou, Y., & Lu, X. (2020). Substantial increases in the water and sediment fluxes in the headwater region of the Tibetan Plateau in response to global warming. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 47(11), Article e2020GL087745. https://doi. org/10.1029/2020GL087745
- Li, D., Lu, X., Overeem, I., Walling, D. E., Syvitski, J., Kettner, A. J., Bookhagen, B., Zhou, Y., & Zhang, T. (2021). Exceptional increases in fluvial sediment fluxes in a warmer and wetter High Mountain Asia. *Science*, *374*(6567), 599–603. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. abi9649
- Li, D., Lu, X., Walling, D. E., Zhang, T., Steiner, J. F., Wasson, R. J., Harrison, S., Nepal, S., Nie, Y., Immerzeel, W. W., Shugar, D. H., Koppes, M., Lane, S., Zeng, Z., Sun, X., Yegorov, A., & Bolch, T. (2022). High Mountain Asia hydropower systems threatened by climate-driven landscape instability. *Nature Geoscience*, *15*(7), 520–530. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41561-022-00953-y
- Li, D., Lu, X. X., Yang, X., Chen, L., & Lin, L. (2018). Sediment load responses to climate variation and cascade reservoirs in the Yangtze River: A case study of the Jinsha River. *Geomorphology*, *322*, 41–52. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2018.08.038
- Li, W., Zhao, B., Xu, Q., Scaringi, G., Lu, H., & Huang, R. (2022). More frequent glacier-rock avalanches in Sedongpu gully are blocking the Yarlung Zangbo River in eastern Tibet. *Landslides*, *19*(3), 589–601. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10346-021-01798-z

- Linsbauer, A., Frey, H., Haeberli, W., Machguth, H., Azam, M. F., & Allen, S. (2015). Modelling glacier-bed overdeepenings and possible future lakes for the glaciers in the Himalaya–Karakoram region. *Annals of Glaciology*, *57*(71), 119–130. https://doi. org/10.3189/2016AoG71A627
- Lone, S. A., Jeelani, G., Deshpande, R. D., Mukherjee, A.,
 Jasechko, S., & Lone, A. (2021). Meltwaters dominate groundwater recharge in cold arid desert of Upper Indus River Basin (UIRB), western Himalayas. *Science of The Total Environment*, *786*, Article 147514.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.147514
- Lutz, A. F., Immerzeel, W. W., Kraaijenbrink, P. D. A., Shrestha, A. B., & Bierkens, M. F. P. (2016). Climate change impacts on the Upper Indus hydrology: Sources, shifts and extremes. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(11), Article e0165630. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0165630
- Lutz, A. F., Immerzeel, W. W., Shrestha, A. B., & Bierkens, M. F. P. (2014). Consistent increase in High Asia's runoff due to increasing glacier melt and precipitation. *Nature Climate Change*, 4(7), 587–592. https://doi. org/10.1038/nclimate2237
- Lutz, A. F., Immerzeel, W. W., Siderius, C., Wijngaard, R. R., Nepal, S., Shrestha, A. B., Wester, P., & Biemans, H. (2022). South Asian agriculture increasingly dependent on meltwater and groundwater. *Nature Climate Change*, *12*(6), 566–573. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41558-022-01355-z
- Madhura, R. K., Krishnan, R., Revadekar, J. V., Mujumdar,
 M., & Goswami, B. N. (2015). Changes in western
 disturbances over the Western Himalayas in a
 warming environment. *Climate Dynamics*, 44(3),
 1157–1168. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-0142166-9
- Maharjan, S. B., Steiner, J. F., Shrestha, A. B., Maharjan, A., Nepal, S., Shrestha, M., Bajracharya, B., Rasul, G., Shrestha, M., Jackson, M., & Gupta, N. (2021). *The Melamchi flood disaster: Cascading hazard and the need for multihazard risk management*. ICIMOD. https://www.icimod.org/article/the-melamchi-flooddisaster/
- Mal, S., Allen, S. K., Frey, H., Huggel, C., & Dimri, A. P. (2021).
 Sectorwise assessment of glacial lake outburst flood danger in the Indian Himalayan Region. *Mountain Research and Development*, *41*(1), R1–R12. https://doi. org/10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-20-00043.1
- Malik, N., Bookhagen, B., & Mucha, P. J. (2016). Spatiotemporal patterns and trends of Indian monsoonal rainfall extremes. *Geophysical Research Letters*, *43*(4), 1710–1717. https://doi. org/10.1002/2016GL067841

- Mandal, A., Angchuk, T., Azam, M. F., Ramanathan, A., Wagnon, P., Soheb, M., & Singh, C. (2022). An 11-year record of wintertime snow surface energy balance and sublimation at 4,863 m a.s.l. on Chhota Shigri Glacier moraine (western Himalaya, India). *The Cryosphere*, *16*, 3775–3799. https://doi.org/10.5194/ tc-2021-386
- Matheswaran, K., Khadka, A., Dhaubanjar, S., Bharati, L., Kumar, S., & Shrestha, S. (2019). Delineation of spring recharge zones using environmental isotopes to support climate-resilient interventions in two mountainous catchments in far-western Nepal. *Hydrogeology Journal*, *27*(6), 2181–2197. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10040-019-01973-6
- Mathison, C., Challinor, A. J., Deva, C., Falloon, P., Garrigues,
 S., Moulin, S., Williams, K., & Wiltshire, A. (2021).
 Implementation of sequential cropping into
 JULESvn5.2 land-surface model. *Geoscientific Model Development*, *14*(1), 437–471. https://doi.org/10.5194/
 gmd-14-437-2021
- McAdoo, B. G., Quak, M., Gnyawali, K. R., Adhikari, B. R., Devkota, S., Rajbhandari, P. L., & Sudmeier-Rieux, K. (2018). Roads and landslides in Nepal: How development affects environmental risk. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, *18*(12), 3203– 3210. https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-18-3203-2018
- Meena, S. R., Bhuyan, K., Chauhan, A., & Singh, R. P. (2021).
 Changes in the flood plains and water quality along the Himalayan rivers after the Chamoli disaster of 7 February 2021. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 42(18), 6984–7001. https://doi.org/10.1080/0 1431161.2021.1944696
- Merrey, D. J., Hussain, A., Tamang, D. D., Thapa, B., & Prakash, A. (2018). Evolving high altitude livelihoods and climate change: A study from Rasuwa District, Nepal. *Food Security*, *10*(4), 1055–1071. https://doi. org/10.1007/s12571-018-0827-y
- Miles, E. S., Watson, C. S., Brun, F., Berthier, E., Esteves,
 M., Quincey, D. J., Miles, K. E., Hubbard, B., &
 Wagnon, P. (2018). Glacial and geomorphic effects of a supraglacial lake drainage and outburst event,
 Everest region, Nepal Himalaya. *The Cryosphere*, *12*(12), 3891–3905. https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-12-3891-2018
- Mimeau, L., Esteves, M., Zin, I., Jacobi, H.-W., Brun, F.,
 Wagnon, P., Koirala, D., & Arnaud, Y. (2019).
 Quantification of different flow components in a high-altitude glacierized catchment (Dudh Koshi, Himalaya): Some cryospheric-related issues.
 Hydrology and Earth System Sciences, 23(9), 3969– 3996. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-23-3969-2019

Mohammed, K., Islam, A. S., Islam, G. T., Alfieri, L., Bala, S.
K., & Khan, Md. J. U. (2017). Extreme flows and water availability of the Brahmaputra River under 1.5 and 2°C global warming scenarios. *Climatic Change*, 145(1), 159–175. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-017-2073-2

- Muhammad, S., Li, J., Steiner, J. F., Shrestha, F., Shah, G.
 M., Berthier, E., Guo, L., Wu, L., & Tian, L. (2021). A holistic view of Shisper Glacier surge and outburst floods: From physical processes to downstream impacts. *Geomatics, Natural Hazards and Risk, 12*(1), 2755–2775. https://doi.org/10.1080/19475705.2021. 1975833
- Mukherji, A., Sinisalo, A., Nüsser, M., Garrard, R., & Eriksson, M. (2019). Contributions of the cryosphere to mountain communities in the Hindu Kush Himalaya: A review. *Regional Environmental Change*, *19*(5), 1311–1326. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-019-01484-w
- Nepal, S., Khatiwada, K. R., Pradhananga, S., Kralisch, S., Samyn, D., Bromand, M. T., Jamal, N., Dildar, M., Durrani, F., Rassouly, F., Azizi, F., Salehi, W., Malikzooi, R., Krause, P., Koirala, S., & Chevallier, P. (2021). Future snow projections in a small basin of the Western Himalaya. *Science of The Total Environment*, *795*, Article 148587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2021.148587
- Nepal, S., Krause, P., Flügel, W.-A., Fink, M., & Fischer, C. (2014). Understanding the hydrological system dynamics of a glaciated alpine catchment in the Himalayan region using the J2000 hydrological model. *Hydrological Processes*, *28*(3), 1329–1344. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.9627
- Nepal, S., Pradhananga, S., Shrestha, N. K., Kralisch, S., Shrestha, J. P., & Fink, M. (2021). Space-time variability in soil moisture droughts in the Himalayan region. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, *25*(4), 1761–1783. https://doi.org/10.5194/hess-25-1761-2021
- Nie, Y., Pritchard, H. D., Liu, Q., Hennig, T., Wang, W., Wang,
 X., Liu, S., Nepal, S., Samyn, D., Hewitt, K., & Chen, X.
 (2021). Glacial change and hydrological implications in the Himalaya and Karakoram. *Nature Reviews Earth* & *Environment*, 2(2), 91–106. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s43017-020-00124-w
- Nie, Y., Sheng, Y., Liu, Q., Liu, L., Liu, S., Zhang, Y., & Song, C.
 (2017). A regional-scale assessment of Himalayan glacial lake changes using satellite observations from 1990 to 2015. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 189, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2016.11.008

- Nüsser, M., Dame, J., Kraus, B., Baghel, R., & Schmidt, S. (2019). Socio-hydrology of "artificial glaciers" in Ladakh, India: Assessing adaptive strategies in a changing cryosphere. *Regional Environmental Change*, 19(5), 1327–1337. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10113-018-1372-0
- Nüsser, M., Dame, J., Parveen, S., Kraus, B., Baghel, R.,
 & Schmidt, S. (2019). Cryosphere-fed irrigation networks in the Northwestern Himalaya: Precarious livelihoods and adaptation strategies under the impact of climate change. *Mountain Research and Development*, 39(2), R1–R11. https://doi.org/10.1659/ MRD-JOURNAL-D-18-00072.1
- Obu, J. (2021). How much of the Earth's surface is underlain by permafrost? *Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface*, *126*(5), Article e2021JF006123. https://doi. org/10.1029/2021JF006123
- Palazzi, E., von Hardenberg, J., & Provenzale, A. (2013). Precipitation in the Hindu-Kush Karakoram Himalaya: Observations and future scenarios. *Journal of Geophysical Research Atmospheres*, *118*(1), 85–100. https://doi.org/10.1029/2012JD018697
- Panwar, S. (2020). Vulnerability of Himalayan springs to climate change and anthropogenic impact: A review. *Journal of Mountain Science*, *17*(1), 117–132. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11629-018-5308-4
- Parveen, S., Winiger, M., Schmidt, S., & Nüsser, M. (2015). Irrigation in Upper Hunza: Evolution of sociohydrological interactions in the Karakoram, Northern Pakistan. *Erdkunde*, *69*(1), 69–85. https://www.jstor. org/stable/24365265
- Peng, D., Zhou, T., Zhang, L., & Zou, L. (2019). Detecting human influence on the temperature changes in Central Asia. *Climate Dynamics*, 53(7–8), 4553–4568. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-019-04804-2
- Pepin, N., Bradley, R. S., Diaz, H. F., Baraer, M., Caceres, E.
 B., Forsythe, N., Fowler, H., Greenwood, G., Hashmi,
 M. Z., Liu, X. D., Miller, J. R., Ning, L., Ohmura, A.,
 Palazzi, E., Rangwala, I., Schöner, W., Severskiy, I.,
 Shahgedanova, M., Wang, M. B., ... Yang, D. Q. (2015).
 Elevation-dependent warming in mountain regions
 of the world. *Nature Climate Change*, *5*(5), 424–430.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2563
- Poudel, D. P. (2011). How Himalayan dwellers rely on common-pool resources (CPRs) for livelihood? Mustang, trans-Himalayan Nepal. *Global Journal of Human-Social Science*, 11(3), 1–7.

Prakash, A. (2020). *Retreating glaciers and water flows in the Himalayas: Implications for governance*. Policy Brief No. 400. Observer Research Foundation. https:// www.orfonline.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/ ORF_IssueBrief_400_HimalayanGlaciers.pdf

Pritchard, H. D. (2019). Asia's shrinking glaciers protect large populations from drought stress. *Nature*, *569*(7758), 649–654. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1240-1

Qin, Y., Abatzoglou, J. T., Siebert, S., Huning, L. S., AghaKouchak, A., Mankin, J. S., Hong, C., Tong, D., Davis, S. J., & Mueller, N. D. (2020). Agricultural risks from changing snowmelt. *Nature Climate Change*, *10*(5), 459–465. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0746-8

Racoviteanu, A. E., Armstrong, R., & Williams, M. W. (2013). Evaluation of an ice ablation model to estimate the contribution of melting glacier ice to annual discharge in the Nepal Himalaya. *Water Resources Research*, 49(9), 5117–5133. https://doi.org/10.1002/ wrcr.20370

Ragettli, S., Pellicciotti, F., Immerzeel, W. W., Miles, E. S., Petersen, L., Heynen, M., Shea, J. M., Stumm, D., Joshi, S., & Shrestha, A. (2015). Unraveling the hydrology of a Himalayan catchment through integration of high resolution in situ data and remote sensing with an advanced simulation model. *Advances in Water Resources*, *78*, 94–111. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.advwatres.2015.01.013

Ranasinghe, R., Ruane, A. C., Vautard, R., Arnell, N.,
Coppola, E., Cruz, F. A., Dessai, S., Islam, A. S.,
Rahimi, M., Ruiz Carrascal, D., Sillmann, J., Sylla,
M. B., Tebaldi, C., Wang, W., & Zaaboul, R. (2021).
Climate change information for regional impact
and for risk assessment. In V. Masson-Delmotte, P.
Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N.
Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K.
Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J. B. R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T.
Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, & B. Zhou (Eds.), *Climate change 2021: The physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the sixth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (pp. 1767–1926). Cambridge University Press.

Rashid, I., & Majeed, U. (2018). Recent recession and potential future lake formation on Drang Drung Glacier, Zanskar Himalaya, as assessed with earth observation data and glacier modelling. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 77(12), 429. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-018-7601-5

Rasul, G., & Molden, D. (2019). The global social and economic consequences of mountain cryospheric change. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 7. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fenvs.2019.00091

Reggiani, P., Mukhopadhyay, B., Rientjes, T. H. M., &
Khan, A. (2017). A joint analysis of river runoff and
meteorological forcing in the Karakoram, Upper Indus
Basin. *Hydrological Processes*, *31*(2), 409–430.
https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.11038

Roe, G. H., Baker, M. B., & Herla, F. (2017). Centennial glacier retreat as categorical evidence of regional climate change. *Nature Geoscience*, *10*(2), 95–99. https://doi. org/10.1038/ngeo2863

Roe, G. H., Christian, J. E., & Marzeion, B. (2021). On the attribution of industrial-era glacier mass loss to anthropogenic climate change. *The Cryosphere*, *15*(4), 1889–1905. https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-15-1889-2021

Rosser, N., Kincey, M., Oven, K., Densmore, A., Robinson, T., Pujara, D. S., Shrestha, R., Smutny, J., Gurung, K., Lama, S., & Dhital, M. R. (2021). Changing significance of landslide hazard and risk after the 2015 Mw 7.8 Gorkha, Nepal earthquake. *Progress in Disaster Science*, *10*, Article 100159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pdisas.2021.100159

Rounce, D. R., Byers, A. C., Byers, E. A., & McKinney, D. C. (2017). Brief communication: Observations of a glacier outburst flood from Lhotse Glacier, Everest area, Nepal. *The Cryosphere*, *11*(1), 443–449. https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-11-443-2017

Round, V., Leinss, S., Huss, M., Haemmig, C., & Hajnsek, I. (2017). Surge dynamics and lake outbursts of Kyagar Glacier, Karakoram. *The Cryosphere*, *11*(2), 723–739. https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-11-723-2017

Rusk, J., Maharjan, A., Tiwari, P., Chen, T.-H. K., Shneiderman, S., Turin, M., & Seto, K. C. (2022). Multi-hazard susceptibility and exposure assessment of the Hindu Kush Himalaya. *Science of The Total Environment*, 804, Article 150039. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2021.150039

Saif, B., Tahir, M., Sultan, A., Iqbal, M. T., Iqbal, T., Shah, M. A., & Gurmani, S. (2022). Triggering mechanisms of Gayari avalanche, Pakistan. *Natural Hazards*, *112*(3), 2361–2383. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-022-05269-z

Sattar, A., Goswami, A., Kulkarni, A. V., Emmer, A., Haritashya,
U. K., Allen, S., Frey, H., & Huggel, C. (2021). Future
glacial lake outburst flood (GLOF) hazard of the South
Lhonak Lake, Sikkim Himalaya. *Geomorphology*,
388, Article 107783. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
geomorph.2021.107783

Scott, C. A., Zhang, F., Mukherji, A., Immerzeel, W., Mustafa, D., & Bharati, L. (2019). Water in the Hindu Kush Himalaya. In P. Wester, A. Mishra, A. Mukherji, & A. B. Shrestha (Eds.), *The Hindu Kush Himalaya assessment: Mountains, climate change, sustainability and people* (pp. 257–299). Springer Nature Switzerland AG. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-92288-1 8

Seneviratne, S. I., Zhang, X., Adnan, M., Badi, W., Dereczynski,
C., Di Luca, A., Ghosh, S., Iskandar, I., Kossin, J.,
Lewis, S., Otto, F. E. L., Pinto, I., Satoh, M., Vicente-Serrano, S. M., Wehner, M., & Zhou, B. (2021). Weather and climate extreme events in a changing climate.
In V. Masson-Delmotte, P. M. Zhai, A. Pirani, S. L.
Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L.
Goldfarb, M. I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy,
J. B. R. Matthews, T. K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O.
Yelekçi, R. Yu, & B. Zhou (Eds.), *Climate change*2021: The physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the sixth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (pp. 1513–1766). Cambridge University Press.

Sharma, S., Talchabhadel, R., Nepal, S., Ghimire, G. R., Rakhal, B., Panthi, J., Adhikari, B. R., Pradhanang, S.
M., Maskey, S., & Kumar, S. (2022). Increasing risk of cascading hazards in the central Himalayas. *Natural Hazards*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-022-05462-0

Shean, D. E., Bhushan, S., Montesano, P., Rounce, D. R., Arendt, A., & Osmanoglu, B. (2020). A systematic, regional assessment of High Mountain Asia glacier mass balance. *Frontiers in Earth Science*, 7, 363. https://doi.org/10.3389/feart.2019.00363

Shen, Y.-J., Shen, Y., Fink, M., Kralisch, S., Chen, Y., & Brenning,
A. (2018). Trends and variability in streamflow and snowmelt runoff timing in the southern Tianshan Mountains. *Journal of Hydrology*, *557*, 173–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2017.12.035

Shenbin, C., Yunfeng, L., & Thomas, A. (2006). Climatic change on the Tibetan Plateau: Potential evapotranspiration trends from 1961–2000. *Climatic Change*, 76(3), 291–319. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-006-9080-z

Shi, X., Zhang, F., Lu, X., Zhang, Y., Zheng, Y., Wang, G., Wang, L., Jagirani, M. D., Wang, T., & Piao, S. (2022). The response of the suspended sediment load of the headwaters of the Brahmaputra River to climate change: Quantitative attribution to the effects of hydrological, cryospheric and vegetation controls. *Global and Planetary Change, 210*, Article 103753. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2022.103753

Shrestha, M., Koike, T., Hirabayashi, Y., Xue, Y., Wang, L., Rasul, G., & Ahmad, B. (2015). Integrated simulation of snow and glacier melt in water and energy balance-based, distributed hydrological modeling framework at Hunza River Basin of Pakistan Karakoram region. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, *120*(10), 4889–4919. https://doi. org/10.1002/2014JD022666

Shugar, D. H., Burr, A., Haritashya, U. K., Kargel, J. S., Watson, C. S., Kennedy, M. C., Bevington, A. R., Betts, R. A., Harrison, S., & Strattman, K. (2020). Rapid worldwide growth of glacial lakes since 1990. *Nature Climate Change*, *10*(10), 939–945. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41558-020-0855-4

Shugar, D. H., Jacquemart, M., Shean, D., Bhushan,
S., Upadhyay, K., Sattar, A., Schwanghart, W.,
McBride, S., de Vries, M. V. W., Mergili, M., Emmer,
A., Deschamps-Berger, C., McDonnell, M., Bhambri,
R., Allen, S., Berthier, E., Carrivick, J. L., Clague, J.
J., Dokukin, M., ... Westoby, M. J. (2021). A massive
rock and ice avalanche caused the 2021 disaster
at Chamoli, Indian Himalaya. *Science*. https://doi.
org/10.1126/science.abh4455

Siddique, T., Haris, P. M., & Pradhan, S. P. (2022). Unraveling the geological and meteorological interplay during the 2021 Chamoli disaster, India. *Natural Hazards Research*, *2*(2), 75–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. nhres.2022.04.003

Singh, A. T., Sharma, P., Sharma, C., Laluraj, C. M., Patel, L., Pratap, B., Oulkar, S., & Thamban, M. (2020). Water discharge and suspended sediment dynamics in the Chandra River, Western Himalaya. *Journal of Earth System Science*, *129*(1), 206. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12040-020-01455-4

Sinha, R., Gupta, A., Mishra, K., Tripathi, S., Nepal, S., Wahid, S. M., & Swarnkar, S. (2019). Basin-scale hydrology and sediment dynamics of the Kosi river in the Himalayan foreland. *Journal of Hydrology*, *570*, 156– 166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2018.12.051

Somers, L. D., & McKenzie, J. M. (2020). A review of groundwater in high mountain environments. *WIREs Water*, 7(6), Article e1475. https://doi.org/10.1002/ wat2.1475

Soncini, A., Bocchiola, D., Confortola, G., Bianchi, A., Rosso, R., Mayer, C., Lambrecht, A., Palazzi, E., Smiraglia, C., & Diolaiuti, G. (2015). Future hydrological regimes in the Upper Indus Basin: A case study from a high-altitude glacierized catchment. *Journal* of Hydrometeorology, 16(1), 306–326. https://doi. org/10.1175/JHM-D-14-0043.1

Song, L., Zhuang, Q., Yin, Y., Zhu, X., & Wu, S. (2017). Spatiotemporal dynamics of evapotranspiration on the Tibetan Plateau from 2000 to 2010. *Environmental Research Letters*, *12*(1), 014011. https://doi. org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa527d Srivastava, S., & Azam, Md. F. (2022). Functioning of glacierized catchments in monsoon and alpine regimes of Himalaya. *Journal of Hydrology*, 609(71), Article 127671. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jhydrol.2022.127671

Steffen, T., Huss, M., Estermann, R., Hodel, E., & Farinotti, D. (2022). Volume, evolution, and sedimentation of future glacier lakes in Switzerland over the 21st century. *Earth Surface Dynamics*, 10(4), 723–741. https://doi.org/10.5194/esurf-10-723-2022

Steiner, J. F., Gurung, T. R., Joshi, S. P., Koch, I., Saloranta, T., Shea, J., Shrestha, A. B., Stigter, E., & Immerzeel, W. W. (2021). Multi-year observations of the high mountain water cycle in the Langtang catchment, Central Himalaya. *Hydrological Processes*, *35*(5), Article e14189. https://doi.org/10.1002/hyp.14189

Steiner, J. F., Litt, M., Stigter, E. E., Shea, J., Bierkens, M. F. P., & Immerzeel, W. W. (2018). The importance of turbulent fluxes in the surface energy balance of a debris-covered glacier in the Himalayas. *Frontiers in Earth Science*, 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/ feart.2018.00144

Stigter, E. E., Litt, M., Steiner, J. F., Bonekamp, P. N. J., Shea, J. M., Bierkens, M. F. P., & Immerzeel, W. W. (2018). The importance of snow sublimation on a Himalayan glacier. *Frontiers in Earth Science*, 6. https://doi. org/10.3389/feart.2018.00108

Stuart-Smith, R. F., Roe, G. H., Li, S., & Allen, M. R. (2021). Increased outburst flood hazard from Lake Palcacocha due to human-induced glacier retreat. *Nature Geoscience*, *14*(2), 85–90. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41561-021-00686-4

Swarnkar, S., Tripathi, S., & Sinha, R. (2021). Understanding hydrogeomorphic and climatic controls on soil erosion and sediment dynamics in large Himalayan basins. *Science of The Total Environment*, 795, Article 148972. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. scitotenv.2021.148972

Syvitski, J., Ángel, J. R., Saito, Y., Overeem, I., Vörösmarty, C. J., Wang, H., & Olago, D. (2022). Earth's sediment cycle during the Anthropocene. *Nature Reviews Earth & Environment*, 3(3), 179–196. https://doi. org/10.1038/s43017-021-00253-w

Talchabhadel, R., Karki, R., Thapa, B. R., Maharjan, M., & Parajuli, B. (2018). Spatio-temporal variability of extreme precipitation in Nepal. *International Journal* of Climatology, 38(11), 4296–4313. https://doi. org/10.1002/joc.5669 Tambe, S., Dhakal, S., Dhakal, D., Sharma, G., Sherpa, P.
N., Kulkarni, H., Bhutia, N. T., Dhakal, D., Pradhan,
S., Sinha, U. K., Tiwari, A., Kharel, G., Phukan, I., &
Arrawatia, M. L. (2020). Scaling up spring revival in
the Himalaya: Graduating from spring-centric to
aquifer-centric nature-based solutions. In S. Dhyani,
A. K. Gupta, & M. Karki (Eds.), *Nature-based solutions*for resilient ecosystems and societies (pp. 29–50).
Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-15-47126_2

Tambe, S., Kharel, G., Arrawatia, M. L., Kulkarni, H., Mahamuni, K., & Ganeriwala, A. K. (2012). Reviving dying springs: Climate change adaptation experiments from the Sikkim Himalaya. *Mountain Research and Development*, 32(1), 62–72. https://doi. org/10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-11-00079.1

Tambe, S., Rawat, G. S., Bhutia, N. T., Sherpa, P. N., Dhakal,
S., Pradhan, S., Kulkarni, H., & Arrawatia, M. L.
(2020). Building sustainability in the Eastern
Himalaya: Linking evidence to action. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*, 22(6), 5887–5903.
https://doi.org/10.1007/s10668-019-00456-8

Thornton, J. M., Pepin, N., Shahgedanova, M., & Adler, C. (2022). Coverage of in situ climatological observations in the world's mountains. *Frontiers in Climate*, *4*. https://www.frontiersin.org/ articles/10.3389/fclim.2022.814181

Tian, L., Yao, T., Gao, Y., Thompson, L., Mosley-Thompson, E., Muhammad, S., Zong, J., Wang, C., Jin, S., & Li, Z. (2017). Two glaciers collapse in western Tibet. *Journal of Glaciology*, 63(237), 194–197. https://doi. org/10.1017/jog.2016.122

Tiel, M. van, Stahl, K., Freudiger, D., & Seibert, J. (2020). Glacio-hydrological model calibration and evaluation. *WIREs Water*, 7(6), Article e1483. https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1483

Tilloy, A., Malamud, B. D., Winter, H., & Joly-Laugel, A. (2019). A review of quantification methodologies for multihazard interrelationships. *Earth-Science Reviews*, 196, Article 102881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. earscirev.2019.102881

Tuladhar, S., Pasakhala, B., Maharjan, A., & Mishra, A. (2021).
Unravelling the linkages of cryosphere and mountain livelihood systems: A case study of Langtang, Nepal.
Advances in Climate Change Research, 12(1), 119–131.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.accre.2020.12.004

Turner, A. G., & Annamalai, H. (2012). Climate change and the South Asian summer monsoon. *Nature Climate Change*, 2(8), 587–595. https://doi.org/10.1038/ nclimate1495

- ul Hasson, S. (2016). Future water availability from Hindukush-Karakoram-Himalaya Upper Indus Basin under conflicting climate change scenarios. *Climate*, 4(3), 40. https://doi.org/10.3390/cli4030040
- Ultee, L., Coats, S., & Mackay, J. (2022). Glacial runoff buffers droughts through the 21st century. *Earth System Dynamics*, *13*(2), 935–959. https://doi.org/10.5194/ esd-13-935-2022
- Veh, G., Korup, O., von Specht, S., Roessner, S., & Walz, A. (2019). Unchanged frequency of moraine-dammed glacial lake outburst floods in the Himalaya. *Nature Climate Change*, 9(5), 379–383. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41558-019-0437-5
- Veh, G., Lützow, N., Kharlamova, V., Petrakov, D., Hugonnet, R., & Korup, O. (2022). Trends, breaks, and biases in the frequency of reported glacier lake outburst floods. *Earth's Future*, *10*(3), Article e2021EF002426. https://doi.org/10.1029/2021EF002426
- Viste, E., & Sorteberg, A. (2015). Snowfall in the Himalayas: An uncertain future from a little-known past. *The Cryosphere*, 9(3), 1147–1167. https://doi.org/10.5194/ tc-9-1147-2015
- Viviroli, D., Dürr, H. H., Messerli, B., Meybeck, M., &
 Weingartner, R. (2007). Mountains of the world, water towers for humanity: Typology, mapping, and global significance. *Water Resources Research*, 43(7). https://doi.org/10.1029/2006WR005653
- Viviroli, D., Kummu, M., Meybeck, M., Kallio, M., & Wada, Y. (2020). Increasing dependence of lowland populations on mountain water resources. *Nature Sustainability*, *3*(11), 917–928. https://doi. org/10.1038/s41893-020-0559-9
- Wagle, N., Dhakal, M. P., & Shrestha, A. B. (2021). Adaptation strategies to address challenges of traditional agricultural water management in the Upper Indus Basin. *Mountain Research and Development*, 41(3), R24–R31. https://doi.org/10.1659/MRD-JOURNAL-D-20-00059.1
- Wang, B., Ma, Y., Su, Z., Wang, Y., & Ma, W. (2020). Quantifying the evaporation amounts of 75 high-elevation large dimictic lakes on the Tibetan Plateau. *Science Advances*, 6(26), Article eaay8558. https://doi. org/10.1126/sciadv.aay8558
- Wang, L., He, X., Steiner, J. F., Dongwei, Z., Wu, J., Wang, S., & Ding, Y. (2020). Models and measurements of seven years of evapotranspiration on a high elevation site on the Central Tibetan Plateau. *Journal of Mountain Science*. https://doi.org/10.1007s11629-020-6051-1

- Wang, W., Xiang, Y., Gao, Y., Lu, A., & Yao, T. (2015). Rapid expansion of glacial lakes caused by climate and glacier retreat in the Central Himalayas. *Hydrological Processes*, 29(6), 859–874. https://doi.org/10.1002/ hyp.10199
- Wang, W., Xing, W., Shao, Q., Yu, Z., Peng, S., Yang, T.,
 Yong, B., Taylor, J., & Singh, V. P. (2013). Changes in reference evapotranspiration across the Tibetan
 Plateau: Observations and future projections based on statistical downscaling. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, *118*(10), 4049–4068.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/jgrd.50393
- Wang, W., Zhang, T., Yao, T., & An, B. (2022). Monitoring and early warning system of Cirenmaco glacial lake in the central Himalayas. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, 73, Article 102914. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijdrr.2022.102914
- Wang, Y., Sun, Y., Hu, T., Qin, D., & Song, L. (2018). Attribution of temperature changes in Western China. *International Journal of Climatology*, *38*(2), 742–750. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.5206
- Wani, J. M., Thayyen, R. J., Gruber, S., Ojha, C. S. P., & Stumm,
 D. (2020). Single-year thermal regime and inferred permafrost occurrence in the upper Ganglass catchment of the cold-arid Himalaya, Ladakh, India.
 Science of The Total Environment, 703, Article 134631.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134631
- Wani, J. M., Thayyen, R. J., Ojha, C. S. P., & Gruber, S.
 (2021). The surface energy balance in a cold and arid permafrost environment, Ladakh, Himalayas, India. *The Cryosphere*, *15*(5), 2273–2293. https://doi. org/10.5194/tc-15-2273-2021
- Wester, P., Mishra, A., Mukherji, A., & Shrestha, A. B. (Eds.). (2019). *The Hindu Kush Himalaya assessment: Mountains, climate change, sustainability and people*. Springer Nature Switzerland AG. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-319-92288-1
- Wijngaard, R. R., Lutz, A. F., Nepal, S., Khanal, S.,
 Pradhananga, S., Shrestha, A. B., & Immerzeel, W. W.
 (2017). Future changes in hydro-climatic extremes in the Upper Indus, Ganges, and Brahmaputra River basins. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(12), Article e0190224.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0190224
- Wu, T., Xie, C., Zhu, X., Chen, J., Wang, W., Li, R., Wen, A.,
 Wang, D., Lou, P., Shang, C., La, Y., Wei, X., Ma, X.,
 Qiao, Y., Wu, X., Pang, Q., & Hu, G. (2022). Permafrost,
 active layer, and meteorological data (2010–2020)
 at the Mahan Mountain relict permafrost site

of northeastern Qinghai–Tibet Plateau. *Earth System Science Data*, *14*(3), 1257–1269. https://doi. org/10.5194/essd-14-1257-2022

- Xu, X., Lyu, D., Lei, X., Huang, T., Li, Y., Yi, H., Guo, J., He, L., He, J., Yang, X., Guo, M., Liu, B., & Zhang, X. (2021).
 Variability of extreme precipitation and rainfall erosivity and their attenuated effects on sediment delivery from 1957 to 2018 on the Chinese Loess Plateau. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, *21*(12), 3933– 3947. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11368-021-03054-2
- Xu, Z., Zhang, S., & Yang, X. (2021). Water and sediment yield response to extreme rainfall events in a complex large river basin: A case study of the Yellow River Basin, China. *Journal of Hydrology*, 597, Article 126183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2021.126183
- Zemp, M., Frey, H., Gärtner-Roer, I., Nussbaumer, S. U., Hoelzle, M., Paul, F., Haeberli, W., Denzinger, F., Ahlstrøm, A. P., Anderson, B., Bajracharya, S., Baroni, C., Braun, L. N., Cáceres, B. E., Casassa, G., Cobos, G., Dávila, L. R., Delgado Granados, H., Demuth, M. N., ... Vincent, C. (2015). Historically unprecedented global glacier decline in the early 21st century. *Journal of Glaciology*, *61*(228), 745–762. https://doi. org/10.3189/2015JoG15J017
- Zhang, F., Thapa, S., Immerzeel, W., Zhang, H., & Lutz, A. (2019). Water availability on the Third Pole: A review. *Water Security*, 7, Article 100033. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.wasec.2019.100033
- Zhang, G., Yao, T., Xie, H., Wang, W., & Yang, W. (2015). An inventory of glacial lakes in the Third Pole region and their changes in response to global warming. *Global and Planetary Change*, *131*, 148–157. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2015.05.013
- Zhang, S., Zhang, L. M., & Glade, T. (2014). Characteristics of earthquake- and rain-induced landslides near the epicenter of Wenchuan earthquake. *Engineering Geology*, 175, 58–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enggeo.2014.03.012
- Zhang, T., Wang, W., Gao, T., An, B., & Yao, T. (2022). An integrative method for identifying potentially dangerous glacial lakes in the Himalayas. *Science of The Total Environment*, *806*, Article 150442. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.150442
- Zheng, G., Allen, S. K., Bao, A., Ballesteros-Cánovas, J. A., Huss, M., Zhang, G., Li, J., Yuan, Y., Jiang, L., Yu, T., Chen, W., & Stoffel, M. (2021). Increasing risk of glacial lake outburst floods from future Third Pole deglaciation. *Nature Climate Change*, *11*(5), 411–417. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-021-01028-3

- Zheng, G., Mergili, M., Emmer, A., Allen, S., Bao, A., Guo, H., & Stoffel, M. (2021). The 2020 glacial lake outburst flood at Jinwuco, Tibet: Causes, impacts, and implications for hazard and risk assessment. *The Cryosphere*, *15*, 3159–3180. https://doi.org/10.5194/tc-15-3159-2021
- Zheng, H., Chiew, F. H. S., Charles, S., & Podger, G.
 (2018). Future climate and runoff projections across South Asia from CMIP5 global climate models and hydrological modelling. *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies*, *18*, 92–109. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ejrh.2018.06.004
- Zscheischler, J., Martius, O., Westra, S., Bevacqua, E., Raymond, C., Horton, R. M., van den Hurk, B., AghaKouchak, A., Jézéquel, A., Mahecha, M. D., Maraun, D., Ramos, A. M., Ridder, N. N., Thiery, W., & Vignotto, E. (2020). A typology of compound weather and climate events. *Nature Reviews Earth & Environment*, 1(7), 333–347. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s43017-020-0060-z